Biblical Patriotism: An Evangelical Alternative to Nationalism

Adam Wyatt



An Imprint of the Global Center for Religious Research 1312  $17^{TH}$  Street • Suite 549 Denver, Colorado 80202

INFO@GCRR.ORG • GCRR.ORG

GCRR Press An imprint of the Global Center for Religious Research 1312 17th Street Suite 549 Denver, CO 80202 www.gcrr.org

Copyright © 2021 by Adam Wyatt

DOI: 10.33929/GCRRPress.2021.03

*All rights reserved.* No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior permission of GCRR Press. For permissions, contact: info@gcrr.org.

Typesetting/Proofreading: Kimberly Dell Cover Design: Abdullah Al Mahmud fiverr.com/mahmuddidar

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Biblical patriotism: an evangelical alternative to nationalism / Adam Wyatt p. cm.
Includes bibliographic references (p. )
ISBN (Print): 978-1-7378469-0-1
ISBN (eBook): 978-0-578-80731-7
1. Bible—Hermeneutics—Criticism, interpretation, etc. 2.
Hermeneutics—Religious aspects—Christianity. 3. Christianity and politics. 4. Patriotism. 5. Nationalism. 5. Church and state. 6. Evangelicalism. I. Title.

BV629-631 .W938 2021

Mom and Dad, thanks for giving me a love for Jesus and His church. Laurie, thanks for loving me like Jesus and for serving His church with me. Abby, Lily, and Sophie, may you fiercely love Jesus and His church in the coming years.

# Contents

Preface		xiii
1	The Context and the Problem	1
	Historical Underpinnings of American Patriotism 4	
	Puritanism 4	
	Civil Religion 7	
	Contemporary Issues Regarding the Need for a Proper	
	Understanding of Patriotism 10	
	The September 11 Terrorist Attacks 10	
	The War on Terror 13	
	The Presidency of Donald Trump 14	
	Professional Athletes' Protesting of the National	
	Anthem 17	
	Rationale for Research 22	
	Scope of the Project 23	
2	Historical Underpinnings of American Patriotism	26
	The Puritans 27	
	America as the "City on a Hill" 28	
	The Puritan "Errand into the Wilderness" 29	
	The Puritan Concept of the National Covenant 31	
	Major Developments of Patriotism during the	
	Puritan Era 32	
	Revolutionary War Era 32	
	Millennialism in the Revolutionary War Era 33	
	The Role of the Clergy during the Revolutionary	
	Era 36	

Sermons of the Revolutionary Era 38 The Jeremiad 40 Significant Developments of Patriotism during The Revolutionary War Era 43 The American Civil War 43 44 Slavery Civil Religion during the Civil War 46 The Role of the Clergy in the Civil War 47 Influence of Sermons in the Civil War 49 The Concept of Divine Providence in the Civil War 50 The Civil War's Influence on American Patriotism 51 World War II 53 President Roosevelt's Shift from Isolation to Intervention 53 The Role of WWII on the American Sense of Patriotism 55 The Vietnam War 57 American Textbooks' Influence on Collective Memory of the Vietnam War 58 American News Media's Influence on Collective Memory of the Vietnam War 59 The Vietnam War and Its Effects on Soldiers 60 The Vietnam War's Influence on the Concept of American Patriotism 61 Historical Underpinnings of American Patriotism 62 Toward a Biblical Definition of "Patriotism" 63 Patriotism's Core: Loyalty 64 Filial Loyalties 64 The Fifth Commandment and Filial Loyalty 67 Friendship Loyalties 70The Friendship of David and Jonathan 71

3

Loyalty to the Land

74

Place or Space? 75 The Land was Promised 76 The Land was a Gift 78 Boundaries of Land 79 The New Testament's View of Land 79 Loyalty to the Nation Itself 81 The Calling of Abraham and the Beginning of Israel as a Nation 83 Israel's Relationship to War 85 Kingship and the Professionalization of War 89 How the Bible Shapes Loyalty to the Land 92 Defining "Patriotism" 93 Summary 94

4 Toward an Understanding of Patriotism

The Bookends of the American Conception of Patriotism: Nationalism and Cosmopolitanism 97 The General Understanding of Nationalism 97 The General Understanding of Cosmopolitanism 99 Patriotism's Bookends 101 The Two General Understandings of Patriotism 103 Two Major Conceptions of Patriotism 104 Extreme Patriotism 105 Moderate Patriotism 107 Major Components of Patriotism 110 Loyalty 110 Land 112 Culture 113 Toward a Biblically Assessable Definition of "Patriotism" 115

96

5 The Apostle Paul as a Test Case for a Biblically Informed Patriotism 117

> Paul's Cultural Diversity 117 Paul of Tarsus 119

Paul the Jew 120 Philippians 3:5–6 121 "Circumcised on the Eighth Day" 122 "Of the People of Israel" 123 "Of the Tribe of Benjamin" 123 "A Hebrew of Hebrews" 124 "A Pharisees" 125 "Blameless" 126 What to Make of Paul the Jew? 126 Paul the Roman 127 Paul and Empire 130 The New Perspective on Paul 130 How Did Paul Actually See the Imperial Cult? 133 Was Paul Genuinely Anti-Roman? 133 Paul and Romans 13 135 The "Hidden" or "Visible" Meaning of Romans 13 135 Romans 13:1–7 as the Lens in which to See the Patriotism of Paul 137 "Let Every Person Be Subject to the Governing Authorities . . . One Must Be in Subjection" 137 "Therefore Whoever Resists the Authorities Resists What God Has Appointed" 139 "Rulers Are Not a Terror to Good Conduct. but to Bad . . . for He is God's Servant for Your Good" 140 "He Does Not Bear the Sword in Vain" 140 "For this Reason You Pay Taxes" 141 "The Authorities are Ministers of God" 142 "Respect to Whom Respect is Owed, Honor to Whom Honor is Owed" 142 Romans 13:1–7 and Pauline Politics 143 Paul the Patriot 146 Paul's Sense of Patriotic Loyalty to One's Country: Acts 17:26 146

Paul's Sense of Patriotic Loyalty to His People Country: Romans 9:1–5 148 Paul's Sense of Patriotic Loyalty to the Culture: Philippians 2:9–11 and 3:20–21 149 Philippians 2:9–11 149 Philippians 3:20–21 151 Concluding Thoughts on Pauline Patriotism 153 6 Pastoral Implications of a Biblical Understanding of Patriotism 155 Mark 11 and Jesus' Cleansing of the Temple: The Need for the Nations in the Church 155 The Court of the Gentiles: Setting of Nationalism or Worship? 157 Isaiah 56:7: A Call for the Nations to Worship 159 as One Jeremiah 7:11: What the Temple has Become 161 Mark 11: Jesus as Political Prophet 162 Mark 12: Church and Caesar, Adversaries or Allies? 163 Pharisees and Herodians: Strange Bedfellows 164 Money and Taxes 165 Rendering to Caesar 166 Church and State 167 The Nature of the Church and State in Light of Mark 11 and 12 168 A Dual Understanding of Church and State 169 Augustine's Two Cities 169 Pope Gelasius I's Two Swords 170 Abraham Kuyper's One Kingdom with Separate Spheres 171 David VanDrunen's Two Kingdoms 172 *Exiles and Sojourners* 174 Mark 11–12's Effect on Patriotism 175 Visual Hermeneutics: The American Flag 177 The Flag as a Necessary Symbol 179

The Flag as a Needed Symbol 181 The Flag as a Neutral Symbol 182 The Flag as a Negative Symbol 183 A Nuanced Approach to the Flag in Church 185 Patriotic Hymns: The Dangers of Patriotic Liturgy 187 The Nations in Worship: Toward a Proper Liturgy 189 Colossians 3:16/Ephesians 5:19 189 Revelations' Contribution to Christian Liturgy 190 Jeremiah 29: The Church as Humble Exiles 191 Conclusions 195

### 7 Conclusions

Summary of Thesis 200				
Summary of Chapter 2	201			
Summary of Chapter 3	202			
Summary of Chapter 4	203			
Summary of Chapter 5	204			
Summary of Chapter 6	206			
Concluding Thoughts	208			
Common Grace and the American Experiment				

Bibliography

211

199

# Preface

I 'm a military kid. My dad served faithfully in the Air Force, which led me to live in various parts of the world. I was living in West Germany as a child when the Berlin Wall came down, and I used to have pieces of it but, being a child, I did not truly understand the cultural and historical significance of a few pieces of concrete, so they are now lost. I still remember as a child going on to the military base to watch a movie. Instead of the normal movie trailers that many of us love to see, we stood for the national anthem that was played. Moments like these helped shape my understanding of patriotism.

My dad was also a pastor, so standing for the anthem before movies was a big deal, but, more so, was the picture of the local church that I saw. Although the church was made up of mostly military families, it was truly diverse. Our congregation had people from all over the United States and there were so many ethnicities that gathered to worship together. Seeing a diverse church made up of mostly military families also helped shape my understanding of patriotism.

When I started my Ph.D. in 2015, I had no idea what I wanted my dissertation to focus on, but I knew that I wanted something *current* to help keep me motivated. Enter July 16, 2015: the day Donald Trump entered the race for president of the United States. I did not know it then, but this was the beginning of my study on patriotism. To be honest, Trump came out of nowhere. But, slowly and methodically, his vision to "Make America Great Again" gathered much support, especially among evangelicals. He argued that America was not what it once was but it could be again. He made the case that America needed to be better. This resonated with many. It resonated with me. I have always wanted the best for my country and my people and this has always influenced my thoughts

on politics. So, I understood the draw of someone like Trump. However, I also saw something else, something that I couldn't quite put my finger on.

Making America great again was a wonderful ideal but what would that entail? That was the question. As it became more obvious that Trump was going to secure the Republican nomination, patriotic sentiment rose to the forefront of the American consciousness. This patriotic sentiment filtered into the local church and, for the first time in my ministry, politics became something that I had to consistently address in conversations. I finally had a *current topic* for my dissertation; I finally had a topic to research.

When I first started researching, I had no idea just how much the cultural, political, and theological landscape would change in regards to patriotism. I knew that it was a valid and worthy topic to study, but I was not fully prepared for the topic to dominate so much of my personal and spiritual world. Patriotism, something that I always felt was a virtue, slowly became something altogether unrecognizable to me or, at the very least, something that was distorted. When you added the firebrand, Donald Trump, to the mix, you had a blurring of nationalism with patriotism, which many could not differentiate. However, I thought that it was increasingly important to be able to distinguish nationalism from its healthier counterpart, patriotism. This book attempts to bring to the forefront some of the questions that I started to prayerfully work through at the local church level, but it is also just a small drop in the bucket of the valuable theological study that needs to be done in the area.

During the last year of writing, it became even more apparent that patriotism within the church was going to be a topic that needed more clarification. George Floyd's death, BLM and a new civil rights movement, professional athletes kneeling during the national anthems, COVID-19, and the subsequent church closings and mask mandates made it clear that people have a broad way of viewing their place in the political landscape. So, this topic continued to remain *current*. People's thoughts on marches, riots, kneelings, church closings, and masks were influenced by their flavor of patriotism. This made my project challenging.

My hope is, quite simply, that we will be willing to engage with the concepts in a way that both challenges our modern conceptions of patriotism and what a patriotic Christian should be while also embracing the good that patriotism can offer. After all, America is a great country. She is marred by her past, but she also has a noble history. Though the landscape will change, I truly believe that the Bible offers the best way to embrace the good of our own country while also offering us a proper critique of it. Hopefully, this book will stir you to a proper affection for the United States, but, more importantly, I hope that it stirs you to a deeper affection for the God of the Bible who makes us all citizens of Heaven. May Jesus' name be the one we shout for in the coming days.

# The Context and the Problem

What is patriotism? A simple definition of "patriotism" is having a love of one's own country.<sup>1</sup> While simple, the term "patriotism," at least for many Americans, is one that is difficult to fully understand due to its connection with nationalism; and for many, patriotism cannot be divorced from nationalism, which leads to a negative view of patriotism.<sup>2</sup> Many claim patriotism as a virtue because it leads a person to seek out the good for one's country.<sup>3</sup> However, is loving one's country all that is needed for someone to be patriotic? Further, what does it take for someone to truly love his country? For some, patriotism implies the love for one's country, but for countless others, it implies something much more significant. For others, nationalism is often connected in terms of racism, ethnocentrism, and bigotry and, as a result, is not virtuous.<sup>4</sup> What is needed is an understanding of what patriotism is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mitja Sardoč, "The Anatomy of Patriotism," *Anthropological Notebooks* 23 (2017): 44; Margaret Gilbert, "*Pro Patria*: An Essay on Patriotism," *Journal of Ethics* 13 (2009): 322; Ryan LaMothe, "The Problem of Patriotism: A Psychoanalytic and Theological Analysis," *Pastoral Psychology* 58 (2009): 152.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Peter Alter argues that nationalism is "one of the most ambiguous concepts of the present-day vocabulary of political and analytical thought." Peter Alter, *Nationalism* (London: Arnold, 1985), 1. This ambiguous nature of terminology of both "nationalism" and "patriotism" gives rise to a misunderstanding of what it means to be patriotic.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Alasdair MacIntyre, "Is Patriotism a Virtue?" in *Patriotism*, ed. Igor Primoratz (New York: Humanity, 2002), 43–58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> While patriotism *is* closely associated with nationalism, it will be argued that it is something altogether different. Qiong Li and Marilynn Brewer argue that there is a clear differentiation between the two terms. See Qiong Li and Marilynn Brewer, "What Does It Mean to Be an American? Patriotism, Nationalism, and American Identity after 9/11," *Political Psychology* 25 (2004): 727–739. See also, David Crittendon, "Differentiating Patriotism and Nationalism: Influence of Valence of Primes," *The New School Psychology* 

and what it entails to see if it has any connotations with biblical virtue.

Much overlap exists between the concept of country and nation within the concepts of patriotism and nationalism, but the interest in patriotism and nationalism is a relatively modern phenomenon.<sup>5</sup> A resurgence of nationalist "movements" in the global world has combined with challenges of modernization, migration, and the resulting multiculturalism to provide for an increased interest in a philosophical understanding of both patriotism and nationalism.<sup>6</sup> Both terms involve the love and identification of a nation or entity along with a concern for it. In patriotism, the object of love and identification is one's country, or *patria*, but for nationalism, the object of love is one's nation, or *natio*. Igor Primoratz argues that both terms are connected and understood as being the same set of beliefs and feelings but with a different object.<sup>7</sup>

Since people are born in a specific country, they tend to have a natural affinity toward their country.<sup>8</sup> However, this does not answer the question of whether patriotism is a virtue or something a

*Bulletin* 15 (2018): 1–10. The varying definitions, understandings, and misunderstandings of the two terms show the need for further study on the topic. Amélie Mummendey, et al. argue, "In a nutshell, nationalism is seen as inherently related to out-group derogation, whereas patriotism is expected to reveal a positive relation to own group *independent of* out-group derogation." Amélie Mummendey, et al., "Nationalism and Patriotism: National Identification and Out-Group Rejection," *British Journal of Social Psychology* 40 (2001): 160. On how nationalism can hide ethnonationalism, see Farida Fozdar and Mitchell Low, "They Have to Abide by Our Laws . . . and Stuff': Ethnonationalism Masquerading as Civic Nationalism," *Nations and Nationalism* 21 (2015), 524–543.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Steven Grosby, *Biblical Ideas of Nationality: Ancient and Modern* (Winona Lake: Eisenbrauns, 2002), 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Andrew Tan, U.S. Strategy against Global Terrorism: How It Evolved, Why It Failed, and Where It Is Headed (New York: Palgrave, 2009), 85.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Igor Primoratz, "Patriotism and Morality: Mapping the Terrain," *Journal of Moral Philosophy* 5 (2008): 205–206.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Anthony Smith, *Ethno-Symbolism and Nationalism* (Routledge: London, 2009), 26–27. Anthony Smith argues that ethnic ties create associations of people that grow into self-defined ethnic communities. These self-defined communities allow a people to share a common ancestry, memories, and other elements of a common culture.

person should, at the very least, possess if he is to be a good citizen. These are questions that sociologists, philosophers, and historians have researched and argued for years. However, a further question exists: is patriotism something that a "Christian" should possess, and if so, to what end? For many, being a faithful Christian is associated with being patriotic.<sup>9</sup>

For a long time, patriotism was a neglected topic in the academy and major philosophic writings.<sup>10</sup> As already stated, there is a connection of patriotism to nationalism, which is a significant reason for the academy's lack of interest or desire in looking at nationalism.<sup>11</sup> Despite patriotism's significance to the pantheon of political philosophy, it remains a broadly challenged concept due to the misunderstanding of its connection to nationalism. This misunderstanding stems from a highly generalized understanding of nationalism with its connection to national pride.<sup>12</sup>

American patriotism seems a simple matter; however, as Wilfred McClay posits, "[I]t is simple only until one actually starts to think about it, inquire about its sources, and investigate its manifestations."<sup>13</sup> Patriotism, in its contemporary scope, along with its connection to nationalism, is a political philosophy that makes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> For example, Robert Jeffress, pastor of the historic First Baptist Church in Dallas, Texas, has church services throughout the year celebrating freedom in Christ *and* freedom as Americans. Michael Lienesch shows that American Christian leaders throughout history have connected civil religion to patriotism; and as a result, neither is going away. Michael Lienesch, "Contesting Civil Religion: Religious Responses to American Patriotic Nationalism, 1919–1929," *Religion and American Culture* 28 (2018). Alexis de Tocqueville noticed the connection of Christianity and patriotism in America, "In the United States religion is therefore commingled with all habits of the nation and all the feelings of patriotism; whence it derives a peculiar force." Alexis de Tocqueville, *Democracy in America*, trans. Henry Reeve, vol. 2 (New York: Colonial, 1900), 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Igor Primoratz, ed., *Patriotism* (Amherst: Humanity, 2002), 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Ibid., 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Rui de Figueiredo Jr. and Zachary Elkins, "Are Patriots Bigots? An Inquiry into the Vices of In-Group Pride," *American Journal of Political Science* 47 (2003): 172; Sardoč, "The Anatomy of Patriotism," 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Wilfred McClay, "America—Idea or Nation?" *The Public Interest* (2001): 44.

many people uncomfortable.<sup>14</sup> Regardless of the seemingly implied connections to nationalism, patriotism is a worthy topic of academic study. Further, the misunderstanding of the topic is not a reason to be reluctant in pursuing academic knowledge in this field. Instead, this misunderstanding of the topic makes it clear that there is a need in research. To that end, Daniel Holst argues the academy has "scholarly hostility" toward the topic of patriotism because of the academy has an "incomplete analysis" of what patriotism truly is.<sup>15</sup> This modern, incomplete analysis is a result of several contemporary issues.

### Historical Underpinnings of American Patriotism

### Puritanism

The issue of patriotism in America is much more complicated than the issue of patriotism in general.<sup>16</sup> The early settlers of America had a distinct understanding that God had ordained the colonization of the New World as an extension of His sovereign will in all of the world. In 1630, John Winthrop, one of the leading founders of the Massachusetts Bay Colony and eventual governor of the state, preached "A Modell of Christian Charity" showing how they fully believed that the hand of God was upon their journey to the New

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Stephen Nathanson, "In Defense of 'Moderate Patriotism," in *Patriotism*, ed. Igor Primoratz (Amherst: Humanity, 2002), 87. Harry Brighouse notes that some have fears that national loyalties eventually lead to disregard for universal obligations that are owed to all people; additionally, he sees that some see these patriotic loyalties having a "disruptive effect" in how nations exist in the world. Harry Brighouse, "Justifying Patriotism," *Social Theory and Practice* 32 (2006): 553. Jennifer Wolak and Ryan Dawkins posit that Americans show so much patriotism in surveys that the question can be raised whether this patriotism is simply blind allegiance or an genuinely held belief. Jennifer Wolak and Ryan Dawkins, "The Roots of Patriotism across Political Contexts," *Political Psychology* 38 (2017): 391.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Daniel Holst, "From Patriotism's Christian Narrative to Ironic War Poetry" (master's thesis, Western Illinois University, 2018), 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Mark Noll, One Nation under God? Christian Faith and Political Action in America (San Francisco: Harper & Row, 1988), 7.

World. "We shall be as a City upon a Hill, the eyes of all people are upon us; so that if we shall deal falsely with our god in this work we have undertaken and so cause him to withdraw his present help from us."<sup>17</sup> This concept of America being a "city on a hill" has been used for generations to imply that God is specifically behind the inner workings of America, but more than that, has been used to imply that America is to exist as a nation that all the world can imitate.<sup>18</sup>

Puritans left England to settle the New World partly because of their desire to worship freely but partly because of their Calvinist theology. While not the only religion in the colonies, Calvinism was the dominant influence in the early period of American history known as the Puritan period.<sup>19</sup> The Calvinist understanding of God's sovereignty meant that for the Puritans, God had given the early Americans a national mission and became a central tenet to the American sense of religion and helped form the foundation of its sense of patriotism and public life.<sup>20</sup> Since God had given the Americans a clear mission, any attempt at halting that mission was a direct attack on God's plans. Thus, the Puritans identified themselves with the cause of Christ, and as a result, the kingdom of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> John Winthrop, "A Modell of Christian Charity," in *Political Thought in America: An Anthology*, ed. Michael Levy (Prospect Heights: Waveland, 1992), 12. All citations from this sermon have been Anglicized from the original while maintaining original capitalization and punctuation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> George Marsden, *Religion and the American Culture* (New York: Harcourt, 1990), 22. Marlana Portolano states, "America rhetoric from Winthrop's 'City on a Hill' to Reagan's 'shining city' to Barack Obama's rhetoric of hope relies on underlying utopian metaphors" that are distinctly Christian and, at the same time, "American." Marlana Portolano, "The Rhetorical Function of Utopia: An Exploration of the Concept of Utopia in Rhetorical Theory," *Utopian Studies* 23 (2012): 120.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Noll, *One Nation under God?* 23. Mark Noll states, "Puritanism is the only colonial religious system that modern historians take seriously as a major religious influence on the Revolution." Mark Noll, *America's God: From Jonathan Edwards to Abraham Lincoln* (New York: Oxford, 2002), 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Anatol Lieven, *America Right or Wrong: An Anatomy of American Nationalism* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012), 30. Puritanism "was not merely a religious creed and a theology, it was also a program for society." Perry Miller, *Errand in the Wilderness* (New York: Harper, 1954), 191.

God and the nation became synonymous.<sup>21</sup> Further, the American republic was seen as the primary agent of redemptive history; the Puritans saw themselves, and the nation by extension, chosen by God to fulfill a special mission in the world.<sup>22</sup> Puritans saw themselves fulfilling this mission most clearly by seeking to influence the culture around it; and one way they attempted this was through political endeavors. Christian political involvement, primarily influenced by this Puritan theology, was "direct, forceful, and unqualified" and "played a very important part in securing independence from Great Britain."<sup>23</sup>

George McKenna understands that to the Puritans, God had ordained everything in early American life, and this had a broad impact on its politics. This Puritan "narrative" was the underlying "scaffolding" of an American culture that was a heroic story of a people attempting to exist and thrive as God's country.<sup>24</sup> This Puritan narrative had at least four characteristics that helped to steer the historical framework of America. First, Puritans saw America as paralleling ancient Israel. In this way, Americans were God's chosen people who had been sent into the wilderness to carry out His mission and to set an example before the watching world.<sup>25</sup> Second, the Puritans believed that their faith should be more than contemplative but activist. By carrying out God's mission in the world, they were giving evidence of God's grace upon them. Third,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Noll, One Nation under God? 49; Nathan Hatch, The Sacred Cause of Liberty: Republican Thought and the Millennium in Revolutionary New England (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1977), 143.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Hatch, *The Sacred Cause of Liberty*, 155. Seventeenth century Puritan understanding of "chosenness" was a factor that "contributed largely to America's view of themselves as a people set apart by God." John Wilsey, *One Nation under God? An Evangelical Critique of Christian America* (Eugene: Pickwick, 2011), 98. The rhetoric of early New England Puritanism was two-sided: On the one hand, they clearly saw the colonization of the New World as an example of their "chosenness," but on the other hand, they had an extreme fear that God might judge them in its colonization if they were not faithful. McKenna, *Puritan Origins of Patriotism*, 41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Noll, One Nation under God? 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> McKenna, *The Puritan Origins of Patriotism*, 48–51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Puritans compared themselves to Israel also because they saw themselves as seeking to leave England, whom they saw as a tyrannical empire, to settle in a promised land. Wilsey, *One Nation under God?* 80.

the Puritans believed in covenant theology that stressed that the country would prosper if they continued to hold to that mission but would be punished if they were unfaithful.<sup>26</sup> Fourth, the Puritans understood that America was at war with England; this was a war with the Antichrist, so the American Revolution was, in essence, a holy war.

The American Revolution was seen as a religious experience to much of early American culture, and it provided the fundamental basis for much of historical and modern American civil religion as Puritan theology shifted.<sup>27</sup> First, Americans stopped seeing themselves as people who were fleeing persecution but as people who were meant to evangelize the world. Second, many turned into people who were committed to defending their God-given freedoms from the British. As America won their independence from the British, they saw themselves as having won their freedom from an evil empire and having God-ordained legitimacy given to them as a result. Third, the early Puritan fathers became concerned with keeping watch over the new nation in an attempt to see it committed to practicing habits of lawfulness and hard work. As these shifts happened, the foundations for patriotism were laid.<sup>28</sup>

## **Civil Religion**

Civil religion in America further allowed patriotism to be a staple in American culture.<sup>29</sup> "Civil religion" is the "religious way of thinking about politics and a country or nation due to broadly held

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> John Carlson and Jonathan Ebel stress that the biblical covenant helped shape the American identity from colonial times. John Carlson and Jonathan Ebel, *From Jeremiad to Jihad: Religion, Violence, and America* (Berkeley: University of California Press, 2012), 64.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Catherine Albanese, Sons of the Fathers: The Civil Religion of the American Revolution (Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 1976), 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> McKenna, The Puritan Origins of Patriotism, 42, 76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Robert Bellah's excellent article on the issue makes the case that American civil religion is a well-institutionalized religious system in America that should be looked at in much the same way as all other forms of religion in America. Bellah went on to stress that American civil religion is clearly "differentiated" from the religion found in its churches. Robert Bellah, "Civil Religion in America," *Dædalus* 96 (1967): 1–21.

beliefs about its history and destiny." Civil religion provides a culture with a sense of meaning, which, in turn, allows people to look at their political community in a distinctive sense. This distinctive way of looking at a country helps to bring about a sense of collective purpose, which helps it to bring about social assimilation. In short, civil religion is the "social glue" that connects a given society.<sup>30</sup> Civil religion in America built upon the Puritan narrative that held a belief in a personal God who gave America a special mission intervened in its history and was using it as a way to redeem the world.<sup>31</sup>

Civil religion was introduced by philosophers such as Machiavelli and Hobbes and was further defined by Rousseau. However, it found its contemporary definition, at least in its American context, in Robert Bellah's landmark essay, "Civil Religion in America."<sup>32</sup> While not explicitly defining "civil religion," Bellah described it as something that is revealed through the way American people experience the world around them. Specifically, his understanding of civil religion saw God as the central symbol in America; and as such, God had a specific national mission for America and her citizens. This mission was most clearly seen in specific periods of American trials or difficulties.<sup>33</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Dictionary of Christianity in America, s.v. "civil religion"; John Coleman, "Civil Religion," Sociological Analysis 31 (1970): 67, 70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> McKenna, *The Puritan Origins*, 369.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Bellah, "Civil Religion in America," 1–21. Bellah's importance to the topic cannot be understated. Lienesch notes that the essay has been cited in no less than two thousand five hundred academic and scholarly writings. Lienesch, "Contesting Civil Religion," 92.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Bellah, "Civil Religion in America," 15. Bellah fleshes his understanding of these periods of "trials" in Bellah, *The Broken Covenant: American Civil Religion in the Time of Trial* (Chicago: Chicago University, 1970), 176–180. Here, he lists three periods of American trials that have helped shape civil religion. First, the trial of the American Revolution brought about the writing of the Constitution and the Declaration of Independence. In this period, America was seen as a nation created by God with the divine mission. The second period of trial was the time of the Civil War. This period was defined by concepts such as sacrifice and death, most notably shown by Abraham Lincoln and his Gettysburg Address. The third period of trial was during the civil rights movement and the Vietnam era. Martin Luther King was the "champion" of this era with his rhetoric that spoke to civil and religious themes that chastised the nation for not

Civil religion finds meaning and expression in meaningful cultural symbols, and this is especially true in America.<sup>34</sup> There are national saints like George Washington, Abraham Lincoln, and Martin Luther King; sacred spaces like Arlington National Cemetery, Gettysburg, and the sites of the 9/11 attacks. There even exists in the context of civil religion in America the sense of sacred time like July 4 and Memorial Day.<sup>35</sup> The Declaration of Independence and the Constitution both, according to the concepts of American civil religion, have secured a sense of sacred necess; the Declaration of Independence symbolizing the sacred act of revolution and the Constitution symbolizing the sacred institution of the government following the victory of the holy war against Britain that God had ordained.<sup>36</sup>

The belief that God played a "constitutive" role in the founding fathers and helped to set the tone of civil religion as it is in America today cannot be understated. Archetypes like America as a "chosen people" and a "promised land" and a "new Israel" began in the Puritan period but continue to play a prominent role in American culture today. God has been a central symbol in American civil religion and continues to be.<sup>37</sup>

Early American Puritanism played a distinctive role in the founding of America, but when coupled with American civil religion, the groundwork was made for a distinctly patriotic nation. How could Americans not be patriotic when its citizens saw God's

being true to its divine mission. Jermaine McDonald argues that America is deep within a fourth trial that has arisen due to the perceived threat of Islamic terrorism. Jermaine McDonald, "A Fourth Time of Trial: Towards an Implicit and Inclusive American Civil Religion," *Implicit Religion* 16 (2013): 50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> John Wilsey, *American Exceptionalism and Civil Religion: Reassessing the History of an Idea* (Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 2015), 23. The American flag may be the most prominent symbol in all of American civil religion, and this topic will be addressed later in this project.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Catherine Albanese, *America: Religions and Religion* (Belmont: Wadsworth, 1981), 296–297; Conrad Cherry, "Nation, Church, and Private Religion: The Emergence of an American Pattern," *Journal of Church and State* 14 (1972): 232; Clifton Black, "American Scriptures," *Theology Today* 67 (2010): 127–168.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Albanese, Sons of the Father, 184, 216.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Bellah, "Civil Religion in America," 6–7, 17–18.

hand in its settling, founding, and revolution from its enemies? Civil religion in America has thrived because of religious freedom and the disestablishment of a state-sponsored church; this has meant that no specific religious sect can define America's religious identity.<sup>38</sup> The notion of civil religion in America is an essential backdrop for the discussion on patriotism because it sees America as something more than a nation; it posits that America is a nation that loyalty is owed to due to its unique relationship with God. As such, to not be patriotic can be seen almost as sin.

Civil religion is a "strange beast" in that it can appear to mean almost anything to anyone at almost any time.<sup>39</sup> Regardless, civil religion promises to persist and is perhaps the best starting point for considering the future of American patriotism.<sup>40</sup>

## **Contemporary Issues Regarding the Need for a Proper Understanding of Patriotism**

While American patriotism is not a new development, four contemporary events show the need for a proper understanding of patriotism: the attacks on 9/11, the subsequent war on terror, the election of Donald Trump, and a wave of professional athletes protesting the national anthem. All four, in various ways, have brought the topic of patriotism to the mainstream and deserve to be used as a rationale for discussing the topic.

## The September 11 Terrorist Attacks

In the first significant attack on American soil since the surprise attack by the Japanese on Pearl Harbor, the September 11 terrorist

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Wilsey, American Exceptionalism and Civil Religion, 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Raymond Haberski Jr., *God and War: American Civil Religion since 1945* (New Brunswick: Rutgers, 2012), 5. Haberski states that civil religion is a "hybrid of nationalism and traditional religion" and "has an ideological flexibility that is intoxicating because it is so evocative, elastic, and deceptively complex." Haberski, *God and War*, 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Lienesch, "Contesting Civil Religion," 116; Philip Gorski, *American Covenant: A History of Civil Religion from the Puritans to the Present* (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2017), 13.

attacks killed 2,986 people from over eighty different countries and reasserted patriotism into American politics. The aftermath of the attacks on September 11, 2001, led to a dramatic upsurge of patriotism in the United States. Until the 9/11 attacks, the single most lethal and deadly terrorist attack had been the attack on the Abadan theater in Iran that killed over four hundred people in 1978.<sup>41</sup> These attacks on the United States brought a stark realization to most Americans: they had been attacked, wounded, and hurt.

The 9/11 attacks were unique because they were seen not just as an American event but one that affected the entire world: it was a global event. Philosopher Jürgen Habermas noted this as significant when he stated that the attacks "could be called the first historic world event in the strictest sense."<sup>42</sup> The media pointed out repeatedly that America had come under attack and, as a result, was no longer safe. How would America respond? The attacks on America, while tragic, gave rise to a patriotic narrative that came to dominate the American political landscape that continues largely unchallenged today.<sup>43</sup>

After the 9/11 attacks, there was a sense of emergency that befell the American people that had not been felt in some years. As Aviel Roshwald notes, the attacks "shook up most Americans' assumptions about their nation's place in the world," which led to a brief feeling of despair but was quickly followed by a robust patriotic response.<sup>44</sup> The attacks did something to the core of the American public. As commentator Seth Mandel notes, the attacks "posed a discomfiting challenge to the tolerance on which liberal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Tan, U.S. Strategy against Global Terrorism, 1–2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Giovanna Borradori, *Philosophy in a Time of Terror: Dialogues with Jürgen Habermas and Jacques Derrida* (Chicago: University of Chicago, 2004), 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Richard Jackson, "The 9/11 Attacks and the Social Construction of a National Narrative," in *The Impact of 9/11 on the Media, Arts, and Entertainment: The Day That Changed Everything?* ed. Matthew Morgan (New York: Palgrave, 2009), 26–30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Aviel Roshwald, *The Endurance of Nationalism: Ancient Roots and Modern Dilemmas* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2006), 199.

democracies pride themselves."<sup>45</sup> The attacks gave rise to a "conservative shift" that could only be explained by the increased anxiety caused by the attacks.<sup>46</sup>

The time that immediately followed the 9/11 attacks created an unfamiliar set of conditions that tested the different meanings of what it meant to be an American. Patriotism in America, as well as other countries, is often visible in times of catastrophe, emergency, or war; however, before 9/11, America's national attachment had often been visible in the frequent flying of the American flag in times of peace. Now that the attacks made it clear that America was no longer in a state of peace, American flags waved in a new sense of patriotism. American stores quickly sold out due to this increased notion of patriotism.<sup>47</sup>

From the events of 9/11 until today, the American flag has stood as a symbol of national pride and "primes the core essence of what it means to be an American."<sup>48</sup> The tragic events of 9/11 served as a way to bring the national consciousness to a sense of togetherness and unity that had not been seen in recent generations. To be patriotic was to display the flag, and alternatively, not to display the flag was to be seen as unpatriotic. The public display of the American flag became a source of support and strength for the average American by promoting national unity through public displays of patriotism via flying the American flag.<sup>49</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Seth Mandel, "The Failed War on the 'War on Terror': Everybody Hates It and It's Not Going Anywhere," *Commentary*, November 2013, 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> George Bonanno and John Jost, "Conservative Shift among High-Exposure Survivors of the September 11<sup>th</sup> Attacks," *Basic and Applied Social Psychology* 28 (2006): 311.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Markus Kemmelmeier and David Winter, "Sowing Patriotism, but Reaping Nationalism? Consequences of Exposure to the American Flag," *Political Psychology* 29 (2008): 859–860. Phillip Bratta notes that American retailer Walmart sold 116,000 American flags on September 11 and 250,000 on September 12 compared to only 6,400 and 10,000 on the same days the year before. Phillip Bratta, "Flag Display Post-9/11: A Discourse on American Nationalism," *The Journal of American Culture* 32 (2009): 232.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Crittendon, "Differentiating Patriotism and Nationalism: Influence of Valence of Primes," 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Bratta, "Flag Display Post-9/11," 238.

#### The War on Terror

The 9/11 attacks suggested that a massive terrorist threat posed a real and existential threat to America and the American ethos. As a result, on September 15, 2001, just days after the 9/11 attacks, President George Bush, in a radio address to the United States, launched "a broad and sustained campaign to secure our country and eradicate the evil of terrorism," and thus the global war on terror had begun.<sup>50</sup> A few weeks later, on October 7, the United States, with a coalition of other allies, invaded the country of Afghanistan to root out and destroy the Taliban, a terroristic group who were sought out as architects of the 9/11 attacks. As soon as the culprits were identified. President Bush stated the total defeat of Al-Oaeda and all terrorist groups with global reach to be the primary goal of the United States and her efforts at protecting America.<sup>51</sup> Within a month of 9/11, the United States had carried out attacks on various Taliban and Al-Qaeda bases in the country of Afghanistan and had formally invaded them.

While there were significant national debates about the invasion of Afghanistan, it had broad support from the international community; however, in February 2003, President Bush shifted his philosophy and called for a more "preemptive" approach to the global war on terror.<sup>52</sup> As a result of this shift, on March 19, 2003, the United States, under orders from President Bush, began phase two of the war on terror by turning his attention toward Saddam Hussein via an invasion of Iraq due to the alleged presence of weapons of mass destruction, which, the American public was told, were to be used in eventual attacks on America. This move was seen as controversial, and in response, much of the same international community that was supportive of the invasion of Afghanistan opposed the invasion of Iraq.<sup>53</sup> The invasion was short, ending on April 9, 2003, with the fall of the city of Baghdad.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Tan, U.S. Strategy against Global Terrorism, 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Erik Goepner, "Measuring the Effectiveness of America's War on Terror," *Parameters* 46 (2016): 108.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Goepner, "Measuring the Effectiveness of America's War on Terror," 107; Tan, U.S. Strategy against Global Terrorism, 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Tan, U.S. Strategy against Global Terrorism, 3, 107.

While public displays of the flag decreased in the months after 9/11, they increased with the invasion of Iraq.<sup>54</sup> The global war on terror helped build the sense of patriotism partly because it was seen in the television viewing habits of many Americans. Not only did Americans see consistent reports of the ongoing efforts on the war on terror, but they were also consistently reminded of it through the efforts of the Bush administration. In the three years following the start of the war on terror, the administration made, on average, through speeches, interviews, and official communications, ten mentions per day of something relating to the war on terror.<sup>55</sup> In this way, the war on terror was always before Americans, and as a result, the American public was consistently reminded to be patriotic by supporting the troops. To do so was a patriotic duty.

Patriotism contributed to the early support of the war on terror.<sup>56</sup> Over the past fifteen years, there have been almost ten thousand military personnel killed with almost 2.5 million servicemen and women being sent to fight. Furthermore, there have been over 675,000 disability claims as a result of the war on terror. The prolonged war has become the longest in the history of America. Additionally, trillions of dollars have been added to the American national debt.<sup>57</sup> The money spent, combined with over 137,000 civilian casualties, has led support for the war on terror to wane despite the patriotic leanings of many Americans.

## The Presidency of Donald Trump

A third event that brought the discussion of patriotism to the forefront of American culture was the election of Donald Trump as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Gerald Webster, "American Nationalism, the Flag, and the Invasion of Iraq," *The Geographical Review* 101 (2011): 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Brigitte Naws, Mass-Mediated Terrorism: The Central Role of the Media in Terrorism and Counterterrorism (New York: Rowman and Littlefield, 2002), 148–149.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Daniel McCleary, et al., "Types of Patriotism as Primary Predictors of Continuing Support for the Iraq War," *Journal of Political and Military Sociology* 37 (2009): 78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Goepner, "Measuring the Effectiveness of America's War on Terror," 107; Joseph Masco, "Auditing the War on Terror: The Watson Institute's Costs of War Project," *American Anthropologist* 115 (2013): 312.

the forty-fifth president of the United States. Running with the campaign slogan "Make America Great Again," many saw in Trump a politician who was more than patriotic: he was a candidate "for" the people. The "Make America Great Again" slogan popped up everywhere: on hats, posters, social media, and in everyday conversation.

The "Make America Great Again" slogan became one that many perceived as the start of a patriotic—and for some, a nationalist—movement. Trump, from the campaign trail to the White House, used the terms "patriot" and "nationalist" synonymously, thereby keeping the discussion of both patriotism and nationalism at the forefront of political discussion both in America and abroad. For many, Trump's campaign was widely seen as a part of a nationalist resurgence in the Western world.<sup>58</sup>

In an astonishing victory and upset, Trump was elected the forty-fifth president of the United States. Most analysts gave him no chance of securing the Republican nomination, let alone winning the presidency. In fact, Trump was given a one-hundred-to-one long shot of winning by a popular betting firm when he announced he was running.<sup>59</sup>

One of the critical reasons for Trump's surprise election was the fact that he received the collective vote of American evangelical voters.<sup>60</sup> Even though there was a considerable pushback against

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> James Antle, "Trump's Nationalist Moment: Voters Are Speaking up for Country, Border, and Sovereignty," *The American Conservative* 18, no. 1 (2019): 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Michael Nelson, *Trump's First Year* (Charlottesville: University of Virginia, 2018), 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Sarah Bailey, "White Evangelicals Voted Overwhelmingly for Donald Trump," *Washington Post*, November 9, 2016, washingtonpost.com/news/acts-of-faith/wp/2016/11/09/exit-polls-show-white-evangelicals-voted-

overwhelmingly-for-donald-trump/?noredirect=on&utm\_term=.9b754341acf1.

See also, Jessica Martinez and Gregory Smith, "How the Faithful Voted: A Preliminary 2016 Analysis," Pew Research, https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2016/11/09/how-the-faithful-voted-a-preliminary-2016-analysis/. For a more comprehensive look at how the votes of American evangelicals helped Trump win the presidency, see Angela Denker, *Red State Christians: Understanding the Voters Who Elected Donald Trump* (Minneapolis: Fortress, 2019); Andrew Whitehead, et al., "Make America Christian Again: Christian

Trump during the early period of securing the Republican presidential nomination, eventually, Trump secured the nomination. Additionally, most evangelicals supported Trump as the lesser of two evils in a head-to-head race against Hillary Clinton.<sup>61</sup> While it can be argued this lesser-of-two-evils approach had its merits in a head-to-head race against Hillary Clinton, what about in the primaries? According to some researchers, the reason that so many evangelicals supported Trump from his initial announcement or, at the very least, the early period of his candidacy, was that many of these voters were "Christian nationalists."<sup>62</sup>

The Christian nationalist ideology that influences some notion of political discourse is unique in that it calls forth a defense of America through a mythological narrative that connects it directly to a Christian tradition. Therefore, voting for Trump, for many claiming to identify with Christian nationalism, was seen as a "symbolic defense" of the United States and her national heritage.<sup>63</sup> These Trump supporters were connecting their vote for him with a particular eschatological view that saw America as a once-great nation that had suffered rapidly under the presidency of a seemingly "un-Christian" and unpatriotic Barack Obama and his "un-American" policies. The only choice, for Christian nationalists, was

Nationalism and Voting for Donald Trump in the 2016 Presidential Election," *Sociology of Religion: A Quarterly Review* 79 (2018): 147–171.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Philip Gorski, "Why Evangelicals Voted for Trump: A Critical Cultural Sociology," *American Journal of Cultural Sociology* 5 (2017): 340.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Gorski, "Why Evangelicals Voted for Trump," 340; Andrew Whitehead, et al., "Make America Christian Again," 164. According to Philip Gorski, white Christian nationalists who supported Trump had four major characteristics. First, they exhibited signs of racism; second, they believed in a sense of "sacrificialism" where one should sacrifice for the nation; third, they had a sense of "apocalypticism" because they viewed Clinton's potential election as a disaster that must be avoided at all costs; fourth, they had a sense of "nostalgia" that was most readily identified with the notion of "American exceptionalism." Gorski, "Why Evangelicals Voted for Trump," 339–347.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Whitehead, et al., "Make America Christian Again," 147. Also, see Evan Stewart, "Public Religion and the Vote for Donald Trump: Evidence from Panel Data," paper presented at the American Sociological Association Annual Conference, August 11–14, Philadelphia, PA. Stewart argues that Christian nationalism was among the strongest predictors of voting for Trump.

to wholeheartedly support Trump, because to do so was to secure America's place as a "Christian" nation.<sup>64</sup>

While Americans have almost always considered themselves patriotic, it seems the term "patriotic" has become much more prominent in the media, social commentary, and the life of the church with the election of Trump as the forty-fifth president of the United States. With his promise to make America great, there seems to have been another increase of people claiming, if not flaunting, their patriotism of a seemingly Christian nation.<sup>65</sup>

## Professional Athletes' Protesting of the National Anthem

Another issue surrounding patriotism has been the recent development of seeing professional athletes kneel during their respective sports' playing of the national anthem before their games or matches. On August 26, 2016, Colin Kaepernick of the San Francisco 49ers chose not to stand for the playing of the national anthem of a preseason football game and gained immediate national attention for doing so. At first, Kaepernick sat during the national anthem, but after making his reasoning for sitting clear to the media, he began to kneel during the anthem. His reasoning? He was attempting to present his kneeling as a symbolic gesture protesting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Whitehead, et al. go on to stress that white Christian nationalism "provides a metanarrative for a religiously distinct national identity." Further, white Christian nationalists holding "this narrative and perceive threats to that identity overwhelmingly voted for Trump." Whitehead, et al., "Make America Christian Again," 152, 165. Angela Denker makes the case that Christian nationalism was one of the main reasons that Trump was elected. Denker, *Red State Christians*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Andrew Whitehead and Samuel Perry argue that the election of Trump was due to Americans who believed that America was a Christian nation and who saw Trump as a way to ensure the protection of American values. As a result, they argue that "Trumpism" will outlast the Trump presidency because of the way that Trump has transformed the Republican party. Andrew Whitehead and Samuel Perry, "Is a 'Christian America' a More Patriarchal America? Religion, Politics, and Traditionalist Gender Ideology," *Canadian Review of Sociology* 57 (2018): 173.

perceived social injustices in the United States.<sup>66</sup> In the months before Kaepernick's protest, there were several high profile deaths of African American men at the hands of police, and many athletes found themselves using their status as a way to spotlight the perceived injustices. While these athletes responded by doing interviews, wearing clothes with political messages, and writing editorials, it was Kaepernick who was able to exhibit more influence on these issues due to the media coverage surrounding the National Football League (NFL).<sup>67</sup> Some have even argued that during this time, Kaepernick has "exerted more influence on American society" than any other popular culture star.<sup>68</sup>

Kaepernick was standing up for his understanding of racial discrimination and police brutality; the quarterback continued to kneel throughout the season stating simply, "I am not looking for approval. I have to stand up for people that are oppressed."<sup>69</sup> Kaepernick's protest and message grew into something much bigger. By September 2017, more than two hundred NFL players were kneeling, and by 2018, the NFL team owners passed a rule that all players would have to stand for the national anthem or stay in the locker room.<sup>70</sup> Throughout the 2016 and 2017 NFL seasons, many

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Karen Smeda, "Foul on the Play: Applying Mediation Strategies to Address Social Injustice Protests in the NFL," *Dispute Resolution Journal* 73 (2018): 51.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Eric Hall, "Policy Point—Counterpoint: Do African American Athletes Have an Obligation to Fight against Racial Injustice?" *International Social Science Review* 93 (2017): 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Sean Gregory, "Colin Kaepernick," TIME Magazine, 2017, 100.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Kofie Yeboah, "A Timeline of Events since Colin Kaepernick's National Anthem Protest," *The Undefeated*, September 6, 2016, theundefeated.com/features/a-timeline-of-events-since-colin-kaepernicks-national-anthem-protest/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Austin Knoblauch, "NFL Player Protests Sweep League after President Trump's Hostile Remarks," USA Today, September 24, 2017, usatoday.com/story/sports/nfl/2017/09/24/donald-trump-nfl-player-protestsnational-anthem-week-3-response/697609001/; Austin Knoblauch. "NFL Anthem National Expected to Enact Policy for 18," NFL, nfl.com/news/story/0ap3000000933952/article/nfl-expected-to-enact-nationalanthem-policy-for-18.

NFL players showed solidarity with Kaepernick by joining in the protests.<sup>71</sup>

However, this political movement split other players and many fans. In a poll during the protests, 47 percent of Americans thought that the athletes should stand during the anthem, while 51 percent thought that there should not be a specific rule requiring them to do so.<sup>72</sup> Public opinion polls suggested that fans began to boycott the NFL as a result of these protests, and viewership and support of the NFL began to decline.<sup>73</sup> Further, it was not just the fans and players that were torn on the issue—many team executives, owners, and coaches were as well. Some supported the athletes' right to protest, while others were silent.<sup>74</sup>

While credited with igniting the recent trend of athletes kneeling during the playing of the national anthem, this is not to say that Kaepernick was the first to bring national attention to political issues. African American runners Tommie Smith and John Carlos famously angered many Americans by raising black-gloved fists while on the podium for winning gold and silver, respectively, in the two-hundred-meter sprint during the 1968 Olympics in Mexico City. Many athletes protested during the national anthem in the sixties as a way to protest the war in Vietnam.<sup>75</sup> Muhammad Ali, one of the most recognized American sports figures of all time, famously protested the war in Vietnam and refused to register for the draft. Ali immediately lost his boxing license and was labeled as unpatriotic and received death threats.<sup>76</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Smeda, "Foul on the Play," 52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Gregory, "Colin Kaepernick," 102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Chloe Kaufman, "Speaking about Politics, a Fireable Offense? The Legality of Employee Speech Restrictions in the Entertainment Industry," *Journal of Intellectual Property and Entertainment Law* 8 (2019): 381.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Smeda, "Foul on the Play," 58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Joseph Connor, "Off Key: America's National Anthem was a Lightning Rod for Controversy Long before Colin Kaepernick Stayed in His Seat," *American History* (February 2017): 50. Dave Zirin argues that the sixties and seventies were the "golden age" of political athletes. Dave Zirin, "Taking a Knee," *The Nation* 305 (2017): 3–4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Thomas Etan, "What Kaepernick Started: A Former NBA Player Reflects," *The Progressive* (November 2016): 30. Also see Travis Boyce, *Radical* 

In much the same way, Kaepernick's protests were perceived as an assault on American patriotism and values. At the same time, Kaepernick brought to the forefront the understanding that American was deeply divided over the issue. While being labeled unpatriotic by many, his cultural icon status rose. While some questioned whether or not he should use his career to protest during the anthem, others called it a "timely" action due to the polarized issues of race relations within the United States.<sup>77</sup>

If Kaepernick lit the match to the discussion through his use of kneeling during the anthem, then Trump poured the gas.<sup>78</sup> On September 22, 2017, Trump stoked the polarization even further when he said in reference to Kaepernick, "Wouldn't you love to see one of these NFL owners, when somebody disrespects our flag, to say, 'Get that son of a [expletive] off the field right now'?" while speaking at a political rally in the very conservative state of Alabama.<sup>79</sup> The Trump administration also made suggestions that individual on-air employees should be terminated for their role in protesting during the playing of the national anthem.<sup>80</sup> Trump's comments thrilled not just the conservatives in the audience but his conservative base and sparked a national discussion of what it means to be patriotic.<sup>81</sup>

It is not surprising that the protests taking place in the NFL were the ones most responsible for bringing the issue of patriotism to the forefront. The NFL is the professional sport league most

<sup>81</sup> Denker argues the issue with Trump and Kaepernick showed that much more was at stake: "Somehow, American pride, Jesus and pigskins got conflated, and the NFL came to represent all that is sacred about the America Trump was elected to represent . . . While the NFL has come to represent conservative patriotism and the sort of 'God and country' Christianity popular across southern and rural America . . . [it] brought to the fore a conflict that was not only about politics and sports but also about religion and about who has the final word on Christianity in America." Denker, *Red State Christians*, 124–126.

*Teacher: A Socialist, Feminist, and Anti-Racist Journal of the Theory and Practice of Teaching* 109 (2017): 21–28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Boyce, *Radical Teacher*, 23–24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Zirin, "Taking a Knee," 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Greggory, "Colin Kaepernick," 102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Kaufman, "Speaking about Politics," 408. Kaufman gives an excellent summary of the legal challenges presented in whether or not sports figures have a First Amendment right to protest during the anthem.

correlated with conservative politics.<sup>82</sup> In 1942, Congress codified rules on rising for the national anthem, and after Japan's surrender in WWII, former NFL commissioner Elmer Layden made clear the NFL's commitment to patriotism and the anthem by saying it should be "as much a part of every game as the kick-off."<sup>83</sup> So, for more than a generation, the NFL has been seen through a patriotic lens, at the very least, before kickoff due to the league's commitment to the national anthem.

The issue of patriotism within sports was made more obvious in the months after the 9/11 attacks because sports were seen as a type of political "discourse." Immediately after 9/11, Americans saw sports as a way to escape from the current terrorist threat, and the media helped to fuel this escape. On television, sports exhibited themes communicating the importance of unity and patriotism.<sup>84</sup> Sports became a way to present a narrative of cultural politics as well as communicating a particular vision of America. For example, in the third game of the World Series of professional baseball, just weeks after the 9/11 attacks, then-president Bush threw out the opening pitch in New York. Wearing a pullover that features the New York Fire Department's logo, Bush's pitch was arguably one of the most significant opening pitches in baseball history. This served as a patriotic moment, inspiring unity but also a belief that things were seemingly getting back to normal in the United States. This moment in sports was significant.

Other moments in sports over the coming months were significant as well. Super Bowl XXXVI, played on February 3, 2002, featured a highly patriotic theme: "Hope, Heroes, and Homeland." Throughout the television broadcast, the Fox Network connected American football with strands of patriotism and nationalism with its ties to the military who were now fighting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Zirin, "Taking a Knee," 3. For a more comprehensive look at the history of how the pledge of allegiance and national anthem came to be standardized, see Richard Ellis, *To the Flag: The Unlikely History of the Pledge of Allegiance* (Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Connor, "Off Key," 49–50.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Mark Falcous and Michael Silk, "Manufacturing Consent: Mediated Sporting Spectacle and the Cultural Politics of the 'War on Terror'," *International Journal of Media and Cultural Politics* 1 (2005): 59–60.

overseas in the war on terror. With American flags seen throughout the broadcast and talks from American heroes, it was obvious to all viewers that American pride and unity were strong.<sup>85</sup>

Sports have an almost sacred connotation with Americans, and the ritualism around it feeds this connotation.<sup>86</sup> Sports have become central to the American culture; it is no surprise athletes have achieved such a prominent role.<sup>87</sup> When looked at together, athletes and their social influence and the patriotic lens through which much of sports is now looked at post-9/11, it is no wonder that athletes kneeling during the playing of the national anthem are looked at as taboo. Kaepernick (and Trump) have forced the American public to grapple with the difficult questions about patriotism, political protest, and the right to free speech.<sup>88</sup>

### **Rationale for Research**

Due to the contemporary political culture of the United States, there is much polarization on issues of what it means to be an American; and as a result of this polarization, there is much discussion on what it means to be a "patriotic" American. What does being patriotic mean, and is it a character trait that all Americans must have? This contemporary polarization within the American political, social, and ecclesial landscape shows the need for such a discussion.

With so much contemporary discussion on the topics of patriotism due to issues like the continued war on terror, national anthem protests, and even the current president, citizens must have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> Falcous and Silk, "Manufacturing Consent," 59–61. Additionally, the opening ceremony of the Winter Olympics in Salt Lake City, Utah, in 2002 featured athletes along with various members of both NYPD and FDNY. Normally a patriotic event, the opening ceremony was made more somber by the inclusion of an American flag from New York that had survived the 9/11 attacks. This continued to serve as a reminder to the American public that the war on terror was not over.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> For a summary of the connection between ritualism and sporting behavior, see Oscar Fernández and Roberto Cachán-Cruz, "An Assessment of the Dynamic of Religious Ritualism in Sporting Environments," *Journal of Religious Health* 53 (2014): 1653–1661.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Hall, "Policy Point," 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Gregory, "Colin Kaepernick," 100–102.

a proper understanding of what patriotism is and what it is not. Its connection to the concept of nationalism—which has also become of contemporary importance—also brings a misunderstanding of the term, which makes any discussion of patriotism problematic. Due to the differing understandings and misunderstandings of patriotism, there are different understandings of the loyalties that people should have toward their country. Complicating this is the fact that Christians have been called to be citizens of the kingdom of God.

With this in mind, what is a Christian's responsibility to the state? Does a Christian *have* to be patriotic to be a good citizen of both the nation and the kingdom? Further, where does the church fit into the political discussion of patriotism? These are issues that can only be addressed by considering a biblical assessment of patriotism. These issues do not seem to be going away in contemporary American culture; the need for a biblical assessment of patriotism is great.

## **Scope of the Project**

There is much work needed on the topic of patriotism. Many definitions, understandings, criticisms, and affirmations of patriotism exist. Additionally, patriotism today is often associated with nationalism, which can give it a negative connotation in the public and political square. The American concepts of patriotism run deep into its spiritual and cultural heritage; and as such, a biblical definition of patriotism must exist if the church is to be biblically faithful in an extremely divided culture rather than exist as an extension of American civil religion. This work proposes that patriotism, when properly defined, is a biblical alternative to both nationalism and cosmopolitanism. Patriotism will be shown to have three main characteristics: a sense of loyalty toward a person's particular country, a singular loyalty toward a person's country, and a personal identification with a person's country and culture. These characteristics will form the framework for a biblical understanding of patriotism. A biblically defined patriotism serves the church well as she exists in a politically divided culture; further, it assists to keep her more focused on her mission by keeping her away from merely existing as American civil religion.

The purpose of this book is to define a framework of patriotism in America and to give a proper biblical assessment of it. Because patriotism is so closely connected to nationalism, early work will be done to distinguish the terms from one another. The methodology of this project is: first, to give a brief historical sketch of the contemporary issues surrounding American patriotism and its connection to nationalism; second, a definition of patriotism will be given that will serve in later chapters as a framework for a biblical assessment; third, patriotism will be shown as a biblical alternative to both nationalism and cosmopolitanism, which will be shown to be untenable for the Christian. This framework of patriotism will then be assessed biblically while looking through an American lens.

Chapter 2 will give an assessment of the historical underpinnings of the American conception of patriotism. Because the research on these topics is so vast, special attention will be given to specific periods of American history. Special attention will be given to contemporary influences on political philosophy while looking at the following periods of American history: the Puritan era, the revolutionary period, the constitutional era, the era of the Civil War, World War II, and the Vietnam era.<sup>89</sup>

Chapter 3 will present a biblical definition of patriotism as a loyalty to one's particular country that involves a personal identification with his country, culture, and people. By developing a definition of patriotism that is rooted in loyalty, one can assess and evaluate what a biblical understanding of patriotism entails. Chapter 4 will seek to posit the case that patriotism is a biblical alternative to both nationalism and cosmopolitanism. Building on the work of defining terms and assessing previous literature, this project will show both nationalism and cosmopolitanism as untenable for the Christian leaving patriotism as the proper alternative. Additionally, a summary of the various types of patriotism will be given, which will help show the importance of having a biblical definition. Building on the need for a biblical definition of patriotism, Chapter 4 will give a definition that can be assessed biblically. The definition

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> It is beyond the scope of this project to deal with these topics and eras comprehensively, but special care will be given to consider the major points of political writings that are germane to the topic.

will consist of three characteristics. First, patriotism is concerned with love and loyalty toward a person's home country; second, patriotism is concerned with a person's love and loyalty for his home country and not other countries; third, patriotism is concerned with a person's identification with his country and culture. These three characteristics will make up the framework of patriotism and will be looked at biblically throughout the rest of the project.

Chapter 5 will discuss the life and ministry of Paul as a test case of a biblically informed concept of patriotism. Paul, as a Roman citizen, understood what it meant to have loyalty to a country. In this way, Paul will be shown to be a person who understood his role as a citizen of a state while also being a citizen of the kingdom of God. Chapter 6 will consider contemporary issues regarding patriotism for the American church and give practical conclusions and further areas of study. Finally, Chapter 7 will give a summary of the main thesis and takeaways from each chapter.

## Bibliography

- Abernethy, David. "The Heir of Saul: Jonathan's Life and Death in Theological Perspective." In *Characters and Characterization in the Book of Samuel*, edited by Keith Bodner and Benjamin Johnson, 139–156. London: T & T Clark, 2020.
- Achtemeier, Paul. 1 Peter: A Commentary on First Peter. Minneapolis: Fortress, 1996.
- Akerman, Shane. "Classical Trinitarian Theology and the Idolatry of Nationalism: The Doctrine of the Trinity as a Critique of Political Theology." PhD diss., Claremont Graduate University, 2020.
- Albanese, Catherine. America: Religions and Religion. Belmont: Wadsworth, 1981.
  - \_. America: Religions and Religion. Belmont: Wadsworth, 1992.
  - \_. Sons of the Fathers: The Civil Religion of the American Revolution. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 1976.
- Albertz, Ranier. "Hintergrund und Bedeutung des Elterngebots im Dekalog." ZAW 90 (1978): 348–374.
- Alexander, Jon. "Christian Attitudes toward War in Colonial America." *Church and Society* 64 (1974): 16–24.
- Alter, Peter. Nationalism. London: Arnold, 1985.
- Anderson, Benedict. Imagined Communities: Reflections on the Origin and Spread of Nationalism. London: Verso, 2016.
- Anderson, Bernhard. Out of the Depths: The Psalms Speak for Us Today. Philadelphia: Westminster, 2000.
- Anderson, Jennifer. "Prime Time Politics: Television News and the Visual Framing of War." PhD diss., Vanderbilt University, 2011.

- Antle, W. James. "Trump's Nationalist Moment: Voters Are Speaking up for Country, Border, and Sovereignty." *The American Conservative* 19, no. 1 (2019): 14–17.
- Appiah, Kwame. "Cosmopolitan Patriots." Critical Inquiry 23 (1997): 617–639.
- Arnold, Clinton. *Ephesians*. Zondervan Exegetical Commentary on the New Testament. Grand Rapids: Zondervan, 2010.
- Ateek, Naim. "Zionism and the Land: A Palestinian Christian Perspective." In *The Land of Promise: Biblical, Theological and Contemporary Perspectives*, edited by Philip Johnston and Peter Walker, 201–214. Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 2000.
- Audi, Robert. "Nationalism, Patriotism, and Cosmopolitanism in an Age of Globalization." *Journal of Ethics* 13 (2009): 365–381.
- Augustine. City of God. Translated by Henry Bettenson. London: Penguin, 2003.
- Bailey, Sarah. "White Evangelicals Voted Overwhelmingly for Donald Trump, Exit Polls Show." *Washington Post*, November 9, 2016, https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/acts-offaith/wp/2016/11/09/exit-polls-show-white-evangelicalsvoted-overwhelmingly-for-donaldtrump/?noredirect=on&utm term=.9b754341acf1.
- Baldwin, Joyce. 1 and 2 Samuel: An Introduction and Commentary. The Tyndale Old Testament Commentaries. Leicester: Inter-Varsity, 1998.
- Baron, Marcia. "Patriotism and 'Liberal' Morality." In *Patriotism*, edited by Igor Primoratz, 59–86. Amherst: Humanity, 2002.
- Batstone, David and Eduardo Mendieta, eds. *The Good Citizen*. New York: Routledge, 1999.
- Bauckham, Richard. *The Bible in Politics: How to Read the Bible Politically*. Louisville: Westminster, 2011.
- Beale, G. K. *The Book of Revelation: A Commentary on the Greek Text.* New International Greek Testament Commentary. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1999.

-. "Eden, the Temple, and the Church's Mission in the New Creation." *JETS* 48 (2005): 5–31.

. A New Testament Biblical Theology: The Unfolding of the Old Testament in the New. Grand Rapids: Baker, 2011.

- Beecher, Henry. Freedom and War. Boston: Ticknor & Fields, 1863.
- Beitz, Charles. "Cosmopolitanism and Global Justice." *The Journal* of *Ethics* (2005): 11–27.
- Bellah, Robert. "Civil Religion in America." *Dædalus* 96 (1967): 1–21.

. The Broken Covenant: American Civil Religion in the Time of Trial. Chicago: Chicago University, 1970.

Bercovitch, Sacvan. "How the Puritans Won the American Revolution." *The Massachusetts Review* 17 (1976): 597– 630.

\_\_\_\_. "The Typology of America's Mission." *American Quarterly* 30 (1978): 135–155.

- Berens, John. "Good News from a Far Country': A Note on Divine Providence and the Stamp Act Crisis." *Church History* 45 (1976): 308–315.
- Bergen, Robert. *1, 2 Samuel*. The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman Publishers, 1996.
- Berrus, Joshua. "The Church's Relationship with Patriotism and Politics: An Evaluation of Francis A. Schaeffer and John Howard Yoder." Master's thesis, Southeastern Baptist Theological Seminary, 2008.
- Bird, Michael. An Anomalous Jew: Paul among Jews, Greeks, and Romans. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2016.

\_\_\_\_. The Saving Righteousness of God: Studies on Paul, Justification and the New Perspective. Eugene: Wipf and Stock, 2007.

- Black, Allen. *Mark.* The College Press NIV Commentary. Joplin: College Press, 2001.
- Black, Clifton. "American Scriptures." *Theology Today* 67 (2010): 127–168.
- Bloch, Ruth. "The Social and Political Base of Millennial Literature in Late Eighteenth-Century America." *American Quarterly* 40 (1988): 378–396.

- \_\_\_\_. Visionary Republic: Millennial Themes in American Thought, 1756–1800. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1985.
- Blum, Lawrence. "Best Traditions Patriotism: A Commentary on Miller, Wingo and Ben-Porath." *Theory and Research in Education* 5 (2007): 61–68.
- Bock, Darrell. Mark. New Cambridge Bible Commentary. New York: Cambridge, 2015.
- Bonanno, George and John Jost. "Conservative Shift among High-Exposure Survivors of the September 11th Attacks." *Basic and Applied Social Psychology* 28 (2006): 311–323.
- Bonikowski, Bart and Paul DiMaggio. "Varieties of American Popular Nationalism." *American Sociological Review* 81 (2016): 949–980.
- Bonner, Robert. "Flag Culture and the Consolidation of Confederate Nationalism." *The Journal of Southern History* 68 (2002): 293–332.
- Bonomi, Patricia. Under the Cope of Heaven: Religion, Society, and Politics in Colonial America. New York: Oxford University Press, 1986.
- Borggren, Erik. "Romans 13:1–7 and Philippians 3:17–21: Paul's Call to True Citizenship and to Gaman." *The Covenant Quarterly* 73 (2015): 26–40.
- Boring, M. Eugene. *Mark*: A Commentary. Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 2006.
- Borradori, Giovanna. *Philosophy in a Time of Terror: Dialogues* with Jügen Habermas and Jacques Derrida. Chicago: University of Chicago, 2004.
- Boyce, Travis. "Radical Teacher: A Socialist, Feminist, and Anti-Racist." *Journal of the Theory and Practice of Teaching* 109 (2017): 21–28.
- Brand, Chad, ed. *Holman Illustrated Bible Dictionary*. Nashville: Broadman and Holman, 2003, S.v. "temple of Jerusalem."
- Bratt, James. *Abraham Kuyper: A Centennial Reader*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1998.
- Bratta, Phillip. "Flag Display Post-9/11: A Discourse on American Nationalism." *The Journal of American Culture* 32 (2009): 232–243.

- Bredin, Mark. Jesus, Revolutionary of Peace: A Nonviolent Christology in the Book of Revelation. Milton Keynes: Paternoster, 2003.
- Brewer, Susan. *Why America Fights: Patriotism and War Propaganda from the Philippines to Iraq.* Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009.
- Bridges, Carl, Jr. "Friend, Friendship." In *Evangelical Dictionary of Biblical Theology*, 272. Grand Rapids: Baker, 1996.
- Brighouse, Harry. "Justifying Patriotism." Social Theory and Practice 32 (2006): 547–558.
- Brooks, James. *Mark*. The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman, 1991.
- Browning, Judkin. "'I Am Not So Patriotic as I Was Once': The Effects of Military Occupation on the Occupying Union Soldiers during the Civil War." *Civil War History* 55 (2009): 217–243.
- Bruce, F. F. Commentary on the Book of the Acts. The New International Commentary of the New Testament. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1980.
- Brueggemann, Walter. Cadences of Home: Preaching among Exiles. Louisville: Westminster, 1997.
  - \_\_\_\_\_. "The Covenanted Family: A Zone for Humanness." *Journal of Current Social Issues* 14 (1977): 18–23.
  - . *First and Second Samuel*. Interpretation: A Bible Commentary for Teaching and Preaching. Louisville: John Knox, 1990.
  - . *Genesis 1-11:26*, The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman, 1996.
  - \_\_\_\_\_. The Land: Place as Gift, Promise, and Challenge in Biblical Faith. 2nd ed. Minneapolis: Fortress, 2002.
- Bryan, Christopher. *Render to Caesar: Jesus, the Early Church, and the Roman Superpower*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005.
- Burge, Gary. Jesus and the Land: The New Testament Challenge to "Holy Land" Theology. Grand Rapids: Baker, 2010.
- Burk, Denny. "Is Paul's Gospel Counterimperial? Evaluating the Prospects of the 'Fresh Perspective' for Evangelical Theology." *JETS* 51 (2008): 309–337.

- Buts, David, E., Ashby Plant, and Celeste Doerr. "Liberty and Justice for All? Implications of Exposure to the U.S. Flag for Intergroup Relations." *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 33 (2007): 396–408.
- Cafferky, Michael. "Honor the King. Yes. But Emulate the King?" The Journal of Applied Christian Leadership 4 (2012): 32-51.
- Callan, Eamonn. "The Better Angels of Our Nature: Patriotism and Dirty Hands." *The Journal of Political Philosophy* 18 (2010): 249–270.
  - \_. Creating Citizens: Political Education and Liberal Democracy. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1997.
- Carlson, John and Jonathan Ebel. *From Jeremiad to Jihad: Religion, Violence, and America.* Berkeley: University of California Press, 2012.
- Carter, Travis, Melissa Ferguson, and Ran Hassin. "A Single Exposure to the American Flag Shifts Support toward Republicanism up to 8 Months Later." *Psychological Science* 22 (2011): 1011–1018.
- Carter, Warren. "Adult Children and Elderly Parents: The Worlds of the New Testament." *Journal of Religious Gerontology* 12 (2001): 45–59.
- Cartledge, Tony. *1 and 2 Samuel*. Smyth and Helwys Bible Commentary. Macon: Smyth & Helwys, 2001.
- Casey, Edward. "Between Geography and Philosophy: What Does It Mean to Be in the Place-World?" *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 91 (2001): 683–693.
- Casey, Michelle. "Working as Civic and Patriotic Duty for Consumption: A Critical Discourse Analysis of American Presidential Inaugural Speeches since World War II." PhD diss., University of Nevada, Las Vegas, 2016.
- Cavanaugh, William. *Migrations of the Holy: God, State, and the Political Meaning of the Church.* Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2011.
- Chapman, Colin. Whose Promised Land? Tring: Lion, 1983.
- Cherry, Conrad. God's New Israel: Religious Interpretations of American Destiny. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1998.

- Chesebrough, David. "The Civil War and the Use of Sermons as Historical Documents." *OAH Magazine of History* (1993): 26–29.
- Child, Samuel. *The Colonial Parson of New England: A Picture*. New York: The Baker and Taylor Co, 1896.
- Christensen, Daniel. "Roman Citizenship as a Climatic Narrative Element: Paul's Roman Citizenship in Acts 16 and 22 Compared with Cicero's *Against Verres*." *Conversations with the Biblical World* 38 (2018): 55–75.
- Cilliers, Johan. "God in Granite? Aesthetic-Theological Perspectives on the Monumentalisation of Religion." *Scriptura* 114 (2015): 1–13.
- Cole, R. Alan. *Mark.* Tyndale New Testament Commentaries. Downer Grove: InterVarsity, 2008.
- Connor, Joseph. "Off Key: America's National Anthem was a Lightning Rod for Controversy Long before Colin Kaepernick Stayed in His Seat." *American History* (2017): 43–51.
- Craigie, Peter. *The Problem of War in the Old Testament*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1978.
- Crittendon, David. "Differentiating Patriotism and Nationalism: Influence of Valence of Primes." *The New School Psychology Bulletin* 15 (2018): 1–10.
- Crouse, Robert. "Two Kingdoms and Two Cities: Mapping Theological Traditions of Church, Culture, and Civil Order." PhD diss., Wheaton College, 2016.
- Culbertson, Philip. *The Future of Male Spirituality*. Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1992.
- Davies, W. D. The Gospel and the Land: Early Christianity and Jewish Territorial Doctrine. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1974.
- Davis, Kenneth. FDR, the War President, 1940–1943: A History. New York: Random House, 2000.
- de Figueiredo, Rui, Jr. and Zachary Elkins. "Are Patriots Bigots? An Inquiry into the Vices of In-Group Pride." *American Journal* of Political Science 47 (2003): 171–188.
- Deissmann, Adolf. *Paul: A Study in Social and Religious History*. Translated by William Wilson. New York: Harper, 1957.

- Deitz, Mary. "Patriotism: A Brief History of the Term." In *Patriotism*, edited by Igor Primoratz, 201–215. Amherst: Humanity, 2002.
- Delanty, Gerald. "Nationalism and Cosmopolitanism: The Paradox of Modernity." In *The SAGE Handbook of Nations and Nationalism*, edited by Gerald Delanty and Krishan Kumar, 357–368. London: SAGE, 2006.
- Denker, Angela. Red State Christians: Understanding the Voters Who Elected Donald Trump. Minneapolis: Fortress, 2019.
- Deweese-Boyd, Ian and Margaret Deweese-Boyd. "Flying the Flag of Rough Branch': Rethinking Post-September 11 Patriotism through the Writings of Wendell Berry." *Appalachian Journal* 32 (2005): 214–232.
- Diehl, Judy. "Empire and Epistles: Anti-Roman Rhetoric in the New Testament Epistles." *Currents in Biblical Research* 10 (2012): 217–263.
- Divine, Robert. Roosevelt and World War II. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Press, 1969.
- Dixon, Nicholas. "The Friendship Model of Filial Obligations." Journal of Applied Philosophy 12 (1995): 77–87.
- Doob, Leonard. Patriotism and Nationalism: Their Psychological Foundations. New Haven: Yale Press, 1964.
- Dorn, A., David Mandel, and Ryan Cross. "How Just Were America's Wars? A Survey of Experts Using a Just War Index." *International Studies Perspectives* 16 (2015): 270– 285.
- Drew, Gavin. "'Show Me the Money!' Part 1: Speculations Concerning Jesus and the Temple." *Stimulus* 17 (2009): 37– 48.
- Driver, Julia. "Cosmopolitan Virtue." *Social Theory and Practice* 33, no. 4 (2007): 595–608.
- Duff, Nancy. "Locating God in All the Wrong Places: The Second Commandment and American Politics." *Interpretation* 60 (2006): 182–193.
- Duncan, Ligon, Dan Kimball, Michael Larence, Mark Dever, Timothy Quill, and Dan Wilt. *Perspectives on Christian Worship: 5 Views*. Nashville: Broadman & Holman, 2009.

- Edwards, James. *The Gospel According to Mark*. The Pillar New Testament Commentary. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2002.
- Elliott, Neil. "The Apostle Paul's Self-Presentation as Anti-Imperial Performance." In *Paul and the Roman Imperial Order*, edited by Richard Horsley, 67–88. Harrisburg: Trinity Press, 2004.
- Elwell, Walter and Barry Beitzel, eds. *Baker Encyclopedia of the Bible*. Grand Rapids: Baker, 1988, S.v. "Herodians."
  - \_\_\_\_\_. Baker Encyclopedia of the Bible. Grand Rapids: Baker, 1988, S.v. "land."
  - . Baker Encyclopedia of the Bible. Grand Rapids: Baker, 1988, S.v. "Tarsus."
- Endy, Melvin, Jr. "Just War, Holy War, and Millennialism in Revolutionary America." *The William and Mary Quarterly* 42 (1985): 3–25.
- Engberg-Pedersen, Troels. "Paul's Stoicizing Politics in Romans 12–13: The Role of 13:1–10 in the Argument." JSNT 29 (2006): 163–72.
- Esler, Philip. Community and Gospel in Luke-Acts: The Social and Political Motivations of Lucan Theology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1987.
- Fahs, Alice. *The Imagined Civil War: Popular Literature of the North and South, 1861–1865.* Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 2001.
- Falcous, Mark and Michael Silk. "Manufacturing Consent: Mediated Sporting Spectacle and the Cultural Politics of the 'War on Terror'." *International Journal of Media and Cultural Politics* 1 (2005): 59–65.
- Fee, Gordon. *Philippians*. The IVP New Testament Commentary Series. Westmont: InterVarsity, 1999.
- Fernández, Oscar and Roberto Cachán-Cruz. "An Assessment of the Dynamic of Religious Ritualism in Sporting Environments." Journal of Religious Health 53 (2014): 1653–1661.
- Fitzmyer, Joseph. *Romans: A New Translation with Introduction and Commentary.* Anchor Yale Bible. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2008.

- Fleche, Andre. *The Revolution of 1861: The American Civil War in the Age of Nationalistic Conflict.* Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 2012.
- Foucault, Michael. *Collected Interviews*, 1961–1984. Edited by Sylvere Lotringer. New York: Semiotext(e), 1996.
- Fozdar, Farida and Mitchell Low. "They Have to Abide by Our Laws . . . and Stuff': Ethnonationalism Masquerading as Civic Nationalism." *Nations and Nationalism* 21 (2015): 524–543.
- France, R. T. *The Gospel of Mark: A Commentary on the Greek Text.* New International Greek Testament Commentary. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2002.
- Frankel, Jerry. *The Land of Canaan and the Destiny of Israel: Theologies of Territory in the Hebrew Bible.* Winona Lake: Eisenbrauns, 2011.
- Gamble, Richard. In Search of the City on a Hill: The Making and Unmaking of an American Myth. New York: Continuum, 2012.
- Geddert, Timothy. *Mark.* Believers Church Bible Commentary. Scottsdale: Herald Press, 2001.
- George, Timothy. *Galatians*. The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman, 1994.
- Gilbert, Margaret. "Pro Patria: An Essay on Patriotism." *Journal of Ethics* 13 (2009): 319–346.
- Godwin, Promise. "Tarsus and Jerusalem: The Interplay of Knowledge and Spirituality Reading Acts 17:22–28 as a Theological Response to the Quest for Gospel." *Journal for Biblical Theology* 3 (2020): 42–69.
- Goepner, Erik. "Measuring the Effectiveness of America's War on Terror." *Parameters* 46 (2016): 107–120.
- Goldingay, John. Isaiah. Understanding the Bible Commentary Series. Grand Rapids: Baker, 2012.
  - \_\_\_\_\_. Old Testament Theology: Israel's Life. Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 2009.
- Gorski, Philip. American Covenant: A History of Civil Religion from the Puritans to the Present. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2017.

. "Why Evangelicals Voted for Trump: A Critical Cultural Sociology." American Journal of Cultural Sociology 5 (2017): 338–354.Grasso, Christopher. "Images and Shadows of Jonathan Edwards." *American Literary History* 8 (1996): 683–698.

- Grant, Jamie. The King as Exemplar: The Function of Deuteronomy's Kingship Law in the Shaping of the Book of Psalms. Atlanta: SBL, 2004.
- Gray, Timothy. *The Temple in the Gospel of Mark: A Study in its Narrative Role.* Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2008.
- Green, Gene. *The Letters to the Thessalonians*. The Pillar New Testament Commentary. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2002.
- Greenfeld, Liah. *Advanced Introduction to Nationalism*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar, 2016.
  - \_\_\_\_. Nationalism: A Short History. Washington, D.C.: Brookings, 2019.
- Gregory, Sean. "Colin Kaepernick." TIME Magazine, 2017.
- Grimsrud, Ted. The Good War That Wasn't—and Why It Matters: World War II's Moral Legacy. Eugene: Cascade, 2014.
- Grosby, Steven. *Biblical Ideas of Nationality: Ancient and Modern*. Winona Lake: Eisenbrauns, 2002.
  - \_\_\_. "Religion and Nationality in Antiquity." *European Journal* of Sociology 32 (1991): 229–65.
- Grüneberg, Keith. Abraham, Blessing and the Nations: A Philological and Exegetical Study of Genesis 12:3 in its Narrative Context. Berlin: Walter de Gruyter, 2003.
- Goldingay, John. Old Testament Ethics: A Guided Tour. Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 2019.

\_\_\_\_. Old Testament Theology: Israel's Life.Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 2009.

- Goswell, Gregory. "David Their King': Kingship in the Prophecy of Hosea." *Journal for the Study of the Old Testament* 42 (2017): 213–31.
- Habel, Norman. The Land Is Mine: Six Biblical Land Ideologies. Minneapolis: Fortress, 1995.
- Habermas, Jürgen, ed. "Citizenship and National Identity." In Between Facts and Norms: Contributions to a Discourse

*Theory of Law and Democracy*, 491–516. Cambridge: MIT Press, 1996.

- Haberski, Raymond, Jr. God and War: American Civil Religion since 1945. New Brunswick: Rutgers, 2012.
- Hall, Eric. "Policy Point—Counterpoint: Do African American Athletes Have an Obligation to Fight Against Racial Injustice?" *International Social Science Review* 93 (2017): 1–9.
- Hansen, G. Walter. *The Letter to the Philippians*. The Pillar New Testament Commentary. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2009.
- Harding, Sara. "Astonished at His Teaching': The Structure and Authority of Jesus' Sayings in the Gospel of Mark." PhD diss., Marquette University, 1999.
- Harrill, J. Albert. Paul the Apostle: His Life and Legacy in Their Roman Context. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2012.
- Harrison, James. Paul and the Imperial Authorities at Thessalonica and Rome: A Study in the Conflict of Ideology. Wissenschaftliche Untersuchungen zum Neuen Testament. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, 2011.
  - . "Paul and the Imperial Gospel at Thessaloniki." *JSNT* 25 (2002): 71–96.Hatch, Nathan. "The Origins of Civil Millennialism in America: New England Clergymen, War with France, and the Revolution." *The William and Mary Quarterly* 31 (1974): 407–430.
    - \_. The Sacred Cause of Liberty: Republican Thought and the Millennium in Revolutionary New England. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1977.
- Hauerwas, Stanley and William Willimon. *Resident Aliens: Life in the Christian Colony*. Nashville: Abingdon, 1993.
- Hays, Daniel. From Every People and Nation: A Biblical Theology of Race, New Studies in Biblical Theology 14. Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 2003.
- Heimert, Alan. *Religion and the American Mind: From the Great Awakening to the Revolution.* Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1966.
- Heimert, Alan and Andrew Delbanco, eds. *The Puritans in America: A Narrative Anthology.* Cambridge: Harvard University

Press, 1985.Hellerman, Joseph. *Philippians*. Exegetical Guide to the New Testament. Nashville: Broadman, 2015.

. Reconstructing Honor in Roman Philippi: Carmen Christ as Cursus Pudorum. Society for New Testament Studies Monograph Series 132. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005.

- Hendriksen, William. *Mark.* New Testament Commentary. Grand Rapids: Baker, 2002.
  - \_\_\_\_. *Philippians*. New Testament Commentary. Grand Rapids: Baker, 1962.
- Holifield, E. Brooks. "The Penurious Preacher? Nineteenth-Century Clerical Wealth: North and South." *Journal of the American Academy of Religion* 58 (1990): 17–36.
- Holst, Daniel. "From Patriotism's Christian Narrative to Ironic War Poetry." Master's thesis, Western Illinois University, 2018.
- Horrell, David. "The Peaceable, Tolerant Community and the Legitimate Role of the State: Ethics and Ethical Dilemmas in Romans 12:1–15:13." *Review and Expositor* 100 (2003): 81–99.
- Horsley, Richard. Jesus and Empire: The Kingdom of God and the New World Order. Minneapolis: Fortress, 2003.
- Horsley, Richard, ed. *Paul and Empire: Religion and Power in Roman Imperial Society.* Harrisburg: Trinity Press, 1987.Houser, Sarah. "Loving Pimlico: Patriotism in the Age of Cosmopolis." PhD diss., Notre Dame, 2009.
- Howard, David. "The Case for Kingship in the Old Testament Narrative Books and the Psalms." *Trinity Journal* 9 (1988): 19–35.
- Huey, F. B. Jeremiah, Lamentations. The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman, 1993.
- Hughey, Michael. "The Political Covenant: Protestant Foundations of the American State." *State, Culture, and Society* 1 (1984): 113–156.
- Huntington, S. P. Who Are We? The Challenges to America's National Identity. New York: Simon & Schuster, 2004.
- Hutchinson, John and Anthony Smith, eds. *Nationalism*. Oxford Readers. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1994.

- Ikuenobe, Polycarp. "Citizen and Patriotism." Public Affairs Quarterly 24 (2010), 297–318.
- Inge, John. "A Christian Theology of Place." PhD diss., University of Durham, 2001.
- Isaak, Jon. "The Christian Community and Political Responsibility: Romans 13:1–7." *Direction* 32 (2003): 32–46.
- Ishio, Yoshito, Kevin Dougherty, and Izumi Niki. "American Flags in Religious Congregations in the United States." *Journal of Church and State* 61 (2018): 431–450.
- Jewett, Robert. *Romans: A Commentary*. Hermeneia. Minneapolis: Fortress, 2007.
- Jewett, Robert and Constance Collora. "On Turning the Flag into a Sacred Object." Journal of Church and State 37 (1995): 741–752.Jones, Charles. Global Justice: Defending Cosmopolitanism. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999.
- Juel, Donald. *Messiah and Temple: The Trial of Jesus in the Gospel* of Mark. Missoula: Scholars Press, 1977.
- Juster, Susan. Doomsayers: Anglo-American Prophecy in the Age of Revolution. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2003.
- Kateb, George. "Is Patriotism a Mistake?" Social Research 67 (2000): 901–924.
- Kaufman, Chloe. "Speaking about Politics, A Fireable Offense? The Legality of Employee Speech Restrictions in the Entertainment Industry." *Journal of Intellectual Property and Entertainment Law* 8 (2019): 376–408.
- Kaveny, Cathleen. "The Remnants of Theocracy: The Puritans, the Jeremiad and the Contemporary Culture Wars." *Law, Culture and the Humanities* 9 (2013): 59–70.
- Kealy, Sean. "Friendship in the Bible." Scripture in Church 31 (2001): 507–512.
- Keener, Craig. "One New Temple in Christ (Ephesians 2:11–22; Acts 21:27–29; Mark 11:17; John 4:20–24)." Asian Journal of Pentecostal Studies 12 (2009): 75–92.
  - . *Romans.* New Covenant Commentary Series. Eugene: Cascade Books, 2009.
- Keller, Simon. "Are Patriotism and Universalism Compatible." Social Theory and Practice 33 (2007): 609–624.

. "The Case against Patriotism." In *The Ethics of Patriotism: A Debate*, edited by John Kleinig, Simon Keller, and Igor Primoratz, 48–72. Malden: Wiley, 2015.

. "Four Duties of Filial Duty." *The Philosophical Quarterly* 56 (2006): 254–274.

\_\_\_\_. "Patriotism as Bad Faith." *Ethics* 115 (2005): 563– 592.Kemmelmeier, Markus and David Winter. "Sowing Patriotism, but Reading Nationalism? Consequences of Exposure to the American Flag." *Political Psychology* 29, no. 6 (2008): 859–879.

- Kernaghan, Ronald. *Mark.* The IVP New Testament Commentary Series. Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 2007.
- Keszler, Werner. "Die Literarische, Historische und Theologische Problematik des Dekalogs." VT 7 (1957): 1–16.
- Kidd, Thomas. *The Protestant Interest: New England after Puritanism.* New Haven: Yale University Press, 2004.
- Kimball, Warren. "The Incredible Shrinking War: The Second World War, Not (Just) the Origins of the Cold War." *Diplomatic History* 25 (2001): 347–365.
- Kirk, J. R. "Time for Figs, Temple Destruction, and Houses of Prayer in Mark 11:12–25." *The Catholic Biblical Quarterly* 74 (2012): 509–527.
- Kleinig, John. "The Virtue in Patriotism." In *The Ethics of Patriotism: A Debate*, edited by John Kleinig, Simon Keller, and Igor Primoratz, 19–47. Malden: Wiley, 2015.
- Kleinig, John, Simon Keller, and Igor Primoratz. The Ethics of Patriotism: A Debate. Malden: Wiley, 2015.
- Knoblauch, Austin. "NFL Expected to Enact National Anthem Policy for 18." NFL,
- http://www.nfl.com/news/story/0ap3000000933952/article/nflexpected-to-enact-national-anthem-policy-for-18.
  - . "NFL Player Protests Sweep League after President Trump's Hostile Remarks." USA Today, September 24, 2017, usatoday.com/story/sports/nfl/2017/09/24/donaldtrump-nfl-player-protests-national-anthem-week-3response/697609001/.
- Kohn, Hans. Nationalism: Its Meaning and History. Malabar: Krieger, 1982.

- Köstenberger, Andreas and Peter O'Brien. Salvation to the Ends of the Earth: A Biblical Theology of Mission. New Studies in Biblical Theology. Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 2001.
- Kraybill, J. Nelson. Apocalypse and Allegiance: Worship, Politics, and Devotion in the Book of Revelation. Grand Rapids: Brazos, 2010.
- Kruse, Colin. *Paul's Letter to the Romans*. The Pillar New Testament Commentary. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2012.
- Kuyper, Abraham. Lectures on Calvinism: Six Lectures from the Stone Foundation Lectures Delivered at Princeton. Readaclassic.com, 2009.
- Laborde, Cécile. "From Constitutional to Civic Patriotism." British Journal of Political Science 32 (2002): 591–612.
- Laertius, Diogenes. *Lives of the Eminent Philosophers*. Edited by James Miller. Translated by Pamela Mensch. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2018.
- LaGrand, James. The Earliest Christian Mission to 'All Nations' in the Light of Matthew's Gospel. Tampa: Scholars Press, 1995.
- LaMothe, Ryan. "The Problem of Patriotism: A Psychoanalytic and Theological Analysis." *Pastoral Psychology* 58 (2009): 151–166.
- Lane, William. *The Gospel According to Mark*. The New International Commentary on the New Testament. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1974.
- Lawson, Melinda. "'A Profound National Devotion': The Civil War Union Leagues and the Construction of a New National Patriotism." *Civil War History* 48 (2002): 338–362.
- Leibig, Ann and Katherine Green. "The Development of Family Loyalty and Relational Ethics in Children." *Contemporary Family Therapy* 21 (1999): 89–112.
- Levine, Baruch. *Leviticus*. The JPS Torah Commentary. Philadelphia: Jewish Publication Society, 1989.
- Lewis, Penny. Hardhats, Hippies, and Hawks: The Vietnam Antiwar Movement as Myth and Memory. Ithaca: ILR Press, 2013.
- Li, Qiong and Marilynn Brewer. "What Does It Mean to Be an American? Patriotism, Nationalism, and American Identity after 9/11." *Political Psychology* 25 (2004): 727–739.

Lienesch, Michael. "Contesting Civil Religion: Religious Responses to American Patriotic Nationalism, 1919–1929." *Religion and American Culture: A Journal of Interpretation* 28 (2018): 92–134.

\_\_\_. "The Role of Political Millennialism in Early American Nationalism." *The Western Political Quarterly* 36 (1983): 445–465.

- Lieven, Anatol. America Right or Wrong: An Anatomy of American Nationalism. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012.
- Loh, I-Jin and Eugene Nida. A Handbook on Paul's Letter to the *Philippians*. UBS Handbook Series. New York: United Bible Societies, 1995.
- Lukacs, John. *The Legacy of the Second World War*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2010.
- MacIntyre, Alasdair. "Is Patriotism a Virtue?" In *Patriotism*, edited by Igor Primoratz, 43–58. Amherst: Humanity, 2002.
- Mackenzie, Ed. "The Quest for the Political Paul: Assessing the Apostle's Approach to Empire." *EJT* 20 (2011): 40–50.
- Maclear, J. F. "New England and the Fifth Monarchy: The Quest for the Millennium in Early American Puritanism." *The William and Mary Quarterly* 32 (1975): 223–260.
- Madsen, Deborah. American Exceptionalism. Jackson: University Press, 1998.
- Mandel, Seth. "The Failed War on the 'War on Terror': Everybody Hates It and It's Not Going Anywhere." *Commentary* November (2013): 17–25.
- Marsden, George. *Religion and American Culture*. New York: Broadway, 2001.
  - \_\_\_\_. *Religion and the American Culture*. New York: Harcourt, 1990.
- Marshall, I. Howard. *Acts.* Tyndale New Testament Commentaries. Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 2008.

- Marshall, Scott. "The Vietnam War on Prime Time Television: Focus Group Aided Rhetorical Criticism of American Myths in Tour of Duty and China Beach." PhD diss., Ohio State University, 1993.
- Martin, Leisa. "Blind Patriotism or Active Citizenship? How Do Students Interpret the Pledge of Allegiance?" Action in Teacher Education 34 (2012): 55–64.
- Martin, Oren. Bound for the Promised Land: The Land Promise in God's Redemptive Plan. New Studies in Biblical Theology. Downers Grove: Apollos, 2015.
- Martinez, Jessica and Gregory Smith. "How the Faithful Voted: A Preliminary 2016 Analysis." Pew Research, https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2016/11/09/howthe-faithful-voted-a-preliminary-2016-analysis/.
- Marvin, Carolyn and David Ingle. Blood Sacrifice and the Nation: Totem Rituals and the American Flag. Cambridge: Cambridge, 1999.
- Masco, Joseph. "Auditing the War on Terror: The Watson Institute's Costs of War Project." *American Anthropologist* 115 (2013): 312–313.
- Mathews, Kenneth. *Genesis* 1–11:26. The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman Publishers, 1996.
- McClay, Wilfred. "America—Idea or Nation?" *The Public Interest* (2001): 44–58.
- McCleary, Daniel, Meagan Nalls, and Robert Williams. "Types of Patriotism as Primary Predictors of Continuing Support for the Iraq War." *Journal of Political and Military Sociology* 37 (2009): 77–94.
- McConville, J. G. *Deuteronomy*. Apollos Old Testament Commentary. Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 2002.
- McDonald, Jermaine. "A Fourth Time of Trial: Towards an Implicit and Inclusive American Civil Religion." *Implicit Religion* 16 (2013): 47–64.
- McKenna, George. *The Puritan Origins of American Patriotism*. New Haven: Yale, 2007.

- McMahon, Robert. "Contested Memory: The Vietnam War and American Society, 1975–2001." *Diplomatic History* 26 (2002): 159–184.
- McPherson, James. For Cause and Comrades: Why Men Fought in the Civil War. New York: Oxford University Press, 1997.
- Meier, J. P. "The Historical Jesus and the Historical Herodians." JBL 119 (2000): 740–746
- Melick, Richard. *Philippians, Colossians, Philemon.* The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman, 1991.
- Merrill, Eugene. *Deuteronomy*. The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman Publishers, 1994.
- Miller, David. On Nationality. Oxford: Clarendon, 1995.
- Miller, Patrick. "The Gift of God: The Deuteronomic Theology of the Land." *Interpretation* 23 (1969): 451–465.
- Miller, Perry. *Errand in the Wilderness*. New York: Harper, 1954. \_\_\_\_\_\_. "Preparation for Salvation." In *Essays in American Colonial History*, edited by Paul Goodman, 152–83. New York: Holt, 1967.
- Miller, Randall, Harry Stout, and Charles Wilson. *Religion and the Civil War*. New York: Oxford University Press, 1998.
- Monera, Arnold. "The Christian's Relationship to the State According to the New Testament: Conformity or Non-Conformity?" *Asia Journal of Theology* 19 (2005): 106–142.
- Monnet, Agnieszka. "War and National Renewal: Civil Religion and Blood Sacrifice in American Culture." *European Journal of American Studies* 7 (2012): 1–17.
- Moo, Douglas. *The Epistle to the Romans*. New International Commentary of the New Testament. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1996.
- Moore, Margaret. "Is Patriotism an Associative Duty?" *Journal of Ethics* 13 (2009): 383–399.
- Morgan, Edmund. "The Puritan Ethic and the American Revolution." *The William and Mary Quarterly* 24 (1967): 3– 43.
- Morgan, Matthew, ed. The Impact of 9/11 on the Media, Arts, and Entertainment: The Day That Changed Everything? New York: Palgrave, 2009.

- Morris, Leon. *The Epistle to the Romans*. The Pillar New Testament Commentary. Grand Rapids; Eerdmans, 1988.
- Morrissey, Mary. "Elect Nations and Prophetic Preaching: Types and Examples in the Paul's Cross Jeremiad." In *The English Sermon Revised: Religion, Literature and History, 1600– 1750*, edited by Lori Ferrell and Peter McCullough. Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2000.
- Moser, Richard. The New Winter Soldiers: GI and Veteran Dissent during the Vietnam Era. New Brunswick: Rutgers, 1996.
- Mounce, Robert. *Romans*. The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman, 1995.
- Müller, Jac. *The Epistles of Paul to the Philippians and to Philemon*. The New International Commentary on the New Testament. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1978.
- Mummendey, Amélie, Andreas Klink, and Rupert Brown. "Nationalism and Patriotism: National Identification and Out-Group Rejection." *British Journal of Social Psychology* 40 (2001): 159–172.
- Munther, Isaac. "From Land to Lands, from Eden to the Renewed Earth: A Christ-Centred Biblical Theology of the Promised Land." PhD diss., Middlesex University, 2014.
- Murphy-O'Conner, Jerome. *Paul: A Critical Life*. Oxford: Clarendon, 1996.
- Myers, Allen. "Friend." *The Eerdmans Bible Dictionary*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1987, 392–393.
- Nahmod, Sheldon. "The Sacred Flag and the First Amendment." Indiana Law Journal 66 (1991): 511–548.
- Nathanson, Stephen. "Is Cosmopolitan Anti-Patriotism a Virtue?" In *Patriotism: Philosophical and Political Perspectives*, edited by Aleksander Pavkovic and Igor Primoratz, 75–91. London: Routledge, 2007.

\_. "On Deciding Whether a Nation Deserves Our Loyalty." *Public Affairs Quarterly* 4 (1990): 287–298.

\_\_\_\_\_. "Patriotism, War, and the Limits of Permissible Partiality." *Journal of Ethics* 13 (2009): 401–422.

Naws, Brigitte. Mass-Mediated Terrorism: The Central Role of the Media in Terrorism and Counterterrorism. New York: Rowman and Littlefield, 2002.

- Nelson, Michael. *Trump's First Year*. Charlottesville: University of Virginia, 2018.
- Newbigin, Lesslie. *The Gospel in a Pluralist Society*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1986.
- Nincic, Miroslav and Jennifer Ramos. "The Sources of Patriotism: Survey and Experimental Evidence." *Foreign Policy Analysis* 8 (2012): 373–388.
- Noll, Mark. America's God: From Jonathan Edwards to Abraham Lincoln. New York: Oxford University Press, 2002.
  - \_\_\_\_\_. God and Race in American Politics: A Short History. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2008.
    - \_\_\_\_. One Nation under God? Christian Faith and Political Action in America. San Francisco: Harper & Row, 1988.
- Nussbaum, Martha. For Love of Country? Edited by Joshua Cohen. Boston: Beacon, 1996.
  - \_. Upheavals of Thought: The Intelligence of Emotion. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- O'Connor, Raymond. *Diplomacy for Victory: FDR and Unconditional Surrender*. New York: W. W. Norton, 1971.
- O'Donovan, Oliver. The Desire of the Nations: Rediscovering the Roots of Political Theology. Cambridge: Cambridge, 1996.
  - \_\_\_\_\_. "The Loss of a Sense of Place." *The Irish Theological Quarterly* 55 (1989): 39–58.
- O'Donovan, Oliver and Joan Lockwood O'Donovan. From Irenaeus to Grotius: A Sourcebook in Christian Political Thought. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1999.
- O'Brien, Peter. The Epistle to the Philippians: A Commentary on the Greek Text. New International Greek Testament Commentary. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1991.
- Oakes, Peter. "Re-Mapping the Universe: Paul and the Emperor in 1 Thessalonians and Philippians." *JSNT* 27 (2005): 301–322.
- Olyan, Saul. Friendship in the Hebrew Bible. New Haven: Yale, 2017.
- Omanson, Roger and John Ellington. A Handbook on the First Book of Samuel. UBS Handbook Series. New York: United Bible Societies, 2001.

- Parsons, David. Dangerous Grounds: Antiwar Coffeehouses and Military Dissent in the Vietnam Era. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 2017.
- Parker, Christopher. "Symbolic versus Blind Patriotism: Distinction without Difference?" *Political Research Quarterly* 63 (2009): 97–114.
- Patterson, Paige. *Revelation*. The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Homan, 2012.
- Pauwels, Jacques. The Myth of the Good War: America in the Second World War. Toronto: Jame Lorimer, 2015.
- Peterson, Anders. "Imperial Politics in Paul: Scholarly Phantom or Actual Textual Phenomenon?" In *People under Power: Early Jewish and Christian Responses to the Roman Empire*, edited by Outi Lehtipuu and Michael Labahn, 101–127. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press, 2015.
- Peterson, David. *The Acts of the Apostles*. The Pillar New Testament Commentary. Grand Rapids; Eerdmans, 2009.
- Piper, Ferdinand. *Einleitung in die Monumentale Theologie: Eine Geschichte der chrislichen kunstarchälogie und Epigraphik.* Mittenwald: Mäander, 1978.
- Plöger, Josef. Literarkritische, Forgeschichtliche und Stilkritische Untersuchungen Zum Deuteronomium. Bonn: Bonner, 1967.
- Pogge, Thomas. *World Poverty and Human Rights*. Malden: Polity, 2002.
- Pojman, Louis. Terrorism, Human Rights, and the Case for World Government. Lanham: Rowman and Littlefield, 2006.
- Polhill, John. *Acts.* The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman Publishers, 1992.
- Porter, Stanley. Paul: Jew, Greek, and Roman. Leiden: Brill, 2008.
- Porter, Stanley. "Romans 13:1–7 as Pauline Political Rhetoric." *Filologia Neotestamentaria* 3 (1990): 115–139.
- Portolano, Marlana. "The Rhetorical Function of Utopia: An Exploration of the Concept of Utopia in Rhetorical Theory." *Utopian Studies* 23 (2012): 113–141.
- Price, S. R. F. *Rituals and Power: The Romans Imperial Cult in Asia Minor*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1984.
- Primoratz, Igor, ed. "Introduction." Journal of Ethics 13 (2009): 293–99.

\_\_\_\_\_. *Patriotism*. Amherst: Humanity, 2002.

. "Patriotism: A Two-Tier Account." In *The Ethics of Patriotism: A Debate*, edited by John Kleinig, Simon Keller, and Igor Primoratz, 73–103. Malden: Wiley, 2015

- \_. "Patriotism and Morality: Mapping the Terrain." *Journal* of Moral Philosophy 5 (2008): 204–226.
- Punt, Jeremy. "Paul's Imperium: The Push and Pull of Empire, and the Pauline Letters." *Religion and Theology* 23 (2016): 339– 363.
- Rable, George. God's Almost Chosen Peoples: A Religious History of the American Civil War. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 2010.
- Rapske, Brian. The Book of Acts in Its First-Century Setting: The Book of Acts and Paul in Roman Custody. Grand Rapids; Eerdmans, 1994.
- Reed, Esther. "Refugee Rights and State Sovereignty: Theological Perspectives on the Ethics of Territorial Borders." *Journal of the Society of Christian Ethics* 30 (2010): 59–78.
- Reid, Daniel, Robert Linder, Bruce Shelley, and Harry Stout. Dictionary of Christianity in America, S.v. "civil religion."
- Resane, Kelebogile. "Statues, Symbols, and Signages: Monuments towards Socio-political Divisions, Dominance and Patriotism?" *HTS* 74 (2018): 1–8.
- Richey, Sean. "Civic Engagement and Patriotism." Social Science Quarterly 92 (2011): 1044–1056.
- Rist, Martin. "Caesar or God (Mark 12:13–17)? A Study in 'Formgeschichte'." *The Journal of Religion* 16 (1936): 317– 331.
- Robertson, O. Palmer. *The Israel of God: Yesterday, Today, and Tomorrow*. Philipsburg: P & R, 2000.
- Rooker, Mark. *Leviticus*, The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman Publishers, 2000.
- Rorty, Richard. Achieving Our Country: Leftist Thought in Twentieth Century America. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998.
- Roshwald, Aviel. *The Endurance of Nationalism: Ancient Roots and Modern Dilemmas.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2006.

- Rothbart, Myron and James Johnson. "Social Class and the Vietnam War: Some Discrepant Motives for Supporting or Opposing U.S. Involvement in Southeast Asia." *Pacific Sociological Review* 17 (1974): 46–59.
- Royce, Josiah. The Philosophy of Loyalty. Nashville: Vanderbilt, 1908.
- Rutgers, Mark and Lijing Yang. "Virtue or Vice: The Nature of Loyalty. *Public Integrity* 21 (2019): 394–405.
- Ryrie, Charles. *Biblical Theology of the New Testament*. Dubuque: ECS Ministries, 2005.
- Sanders, E. P. Jesus and Judaism. Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1985.
- Sandoz, Ellis, ed. *Political Sermons of the American Founding Era,* 1730–1805, vol. 1. Indianapolis: Liberty Fund, 1998.
- Sardoč, Mitja. "The Anatomy of Patriotism." Anthropological Notebooks 23 (2017): 43–55.
- Sarna, Nahum. *Genesis*. The JPS Torah Commentary. Philadelphia: Jewish Publication Society, 1989.
- Schatz, Robert, Ervin Staub, and Howard Lavine. "On the Varieties of National Attachment: Blind versus Constructive Patriotism." *Political Psychology* 20 (1999): 151–174.
- Scheffler, Samuel. Boundaries and Allegiances: Problems of Justice and Responsibility in Liberal Thought. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2001.

. "Conceptions of Cosmopolitanism." Utilitas 11 (1999).

- Schellenberg, Ryan. "Seed of Abraham (Friesen?): Universality and Ethnicity in Paul." *Direction* 44 (2015): 16–29.
- Schnabel, Eckhard. *Mark.* Tyndale New Testament Commentaries. Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 2017.
- Scholz, Bettina. The Cosmopolitan Potential of Exclusive Associations: Criteria for Assessing the Advancement of Cosmopolitan Norms. Lanham, Lexington, 2015.
- Schreiner, Thomas. *1, 2 Peter, Jude*. The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman, 2003.
- Scruton, Roger. The Need for Nations. London: Civitas, 2004.
- Scobie, Charles. "Israel and the Nations: An Essay in Biblical Theology." *Tyndale Bulletin* 43 (1992): 283–305.

- Sheehan-Dean, Aaron. *Why Confederates Fought: Family and Nation in Civil War Virginia.* Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina, 2007.
- Silva, Elisabete. "Cosmopolitanism and Patriotism: Questions of Identity, Membership and Belonging." *Annals of the University of Craiova, Romania* (2008): 151–161.
- Sin, William. "Adult Children's Obligations towards Their Parents: A Contractualist Explanation." *Journal of Value Inquiry* 53 (2019): 19–32.
- Singer, Peter. "Famine, Affluence, and Morality." *Philosophy and Public Affairs* 1 (1972): 229–243.
- Skitka, Linda. "Patriotism or Nationalism? Understanding Post-September 11, 2001, Flag-Display Behavior." *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 35 (2005): 1995–2011.
- Slaughter, Kirk. "Gaining Momentum: How Media Influences Public Opinion to Push Civil-Military Decision Makers into Formulating Foreign Policy." Paper presented to the Air University, February 2016.
- Small, Melvin. Antiwarriors: The Vietnam War and the Battle for America's Hearts and Minds (Vietnam: America in the War Years). Lanham: SR Books, 2002.
- Smeda, Karen. "Foul on the Play: Applying Mediation Strategies to Address Social Injustice Protests in the NFL." *Dispute Resolution Journal* 73 (2018): 51–60.
- Smith, Anthony. *Ethno-Symbolism and Nationalism: A Cultural Approach*. London: Routledge, 2009.
- Smith, Gary. *Isaiah 40–66*. The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman Publishers, 2009.
- Snay, Mitchell. Gospel of Disunion: Religion and Separatism in the Antebellum South. Cambridge: Cambridge Press, 1993.
- Spry, Carmen and Matthew Hornsey. "The Influence of Blind and Constructive Patriotism on Attitudes toward Multiculturalism and Immigration." *Australian Journal of Psychology* 59 (2007): 151–158.
- Stansell, Gary. "David and His Friends: Social-Scientific Perspectives on the David-Jonathan Friendship." *Biblical Theology Bulletin* 41 (2011): 115–131.

- Stein, Robert. *Mark.* Baker Exegetical Commentary on the New Testament. Grand Rapids: Baker, 2008.
- Stenschke, Christoph. "Paul's Jewish Gospel and the Claims of Rome in Paul's Epistle to Romans." *Neotestamentica* 46 (2012): 338–378.
- Stott, John. *The Spirit, the Church and the World: The Message of Acts.* Downers Grove: InterVarsity Press, 1990.
- Stout, Harry. *The New England Soul: Preaching and Religious Culture in Colonial New England*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012.
- Stuart, Douglas. *Exodus*. The New American Commentary. Nashville: Broadman & Holman, 2006.
- Tan, Andrew. U.S. Strategy against Global Terrorism: How It Evolved, Why It Failed, and Where It Is Headed. New York: Palgrave, 2009.
- Tan, Kok-Chor. Justice without Borders: Cosmopolitanism, Nationalism and Patriotism. Cambridge: Cambridge, 2004.
   . "Patriotic Obligations." The Monist 86 (2003): 434–453.
- Terkel, Studs. "*The Good War*": An Oral History of World War II. New York: The New Press, 1984.
- Theiss-Morse, Elizabeth. Who Counts as an American? The Boundaries of National Identity. Cambridge: Cambridge, 2009.
- Thomas, Etan. "What Kaepernick Started: A Former NBA Player Reflects." *The Progressive* (2016): 29–31.
- Tierney, Dominic. "The Two Vietnam Wars: American Perceptions of the Use of Force." *Political Science Quarterly* 138 (2018): 641–667.
- Tigay, Jeffrey. *Deuteronomy*. The JPS Torah Commentary. Philadelphia: Jewish Publication Society, 1996.
- Trask, Kerry. In the Pursuit of Shadows: A Study of Collective Hope and Despair in Provincial Massachusetts during the Era of the Seven Years War, 1748–1764. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 1971.
- van Hekken, Suus. "Parent and Child Perceptions of Boszormenyi-Nagy's Ethical Dimensions of the Parent-Child Relationship." *Contemporary Family Therapy* 12 (1990): 529–543.

VanDrunen, David. "Abraham Kuyper and the Reformed Natural Law and Two Kingdoms Traditions." *Calvin Theological Journal* 42 (2007): 283–284.

\_\_\_\_. "Bearing Sword in the State, Turning Cheek in the Church: A Reformed Two-Kingdoms Interpretation of Matthew 5:38–42." *Themelios* 34 (2009): 322–334.

\_\_\_\_\_. Biblical Case for Natural Law, Studies in Christian Social Ethics and Economics. Grand Rapids: Acton Institute, 2006.

\_. Living in God's Two Kingdoms: A Biblical Vision for Christianity and Culture. Wheaton: Crossway, 2010.

. Natural Law and the Two Kingdoms: A Study in the Development of Reformed Social Thought. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2010.

\_. Politics after Christendom: Political Theology in a Fractured World. Grand Rapids: Zondervan, 2020.

- Verbruggen, Jan. "Filial Duties in the Ancient Near East." PhD diss., The Johns Hopkins University, 1997.
- Vertovec, Steven and Robin Cohen, eds. Conceiving Cosmopolitanism: Theory, Context, and Practice. Oxford: Oxford, 2002.
- von Rad, Gerhard. *Holy War in Ancient Israel*. Translated by Marva Dawn. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1991.
- Vos, Howard. Nelson's New Illustrated Bible Manners and Customs: How the People of the Bible Really Lived. Nashville: Nelson Publishers, 1999.
- Waldstreicher, David. "Rites of Rebellion, Rites of Assent: Celebrations, Print Culture, and the Origins of American Nationalism." *The Journal of American History* 82 (1995): 37–61.
- Waltke, Bruce and Charles Yu. An Old Testament Theology: An Exegetical, Canonical, and Thematic Approach. Grand Rapids: Zondervan, 2007.
- Walzer, Michael. Arguing about War. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2004.
- Watson, Samuel. "Religion and Combat Motivation in the Confederate Armies." *The Journal of Military History* 58 (1994): 29–55.

- Wattad, Mohammed. "The Meaning of Wrongdoing—A Crime of Disrespecting the Flag: Grounds for Preserving National Unity." San Diego International Law Journal 5 (2008): 5– 62.
- Watts, Craig. "Singing the Songs of Babylon in the Worship of the Church." *Encounter* 74 (2013–2014): 1–17.
- Webster, Gerald. "American Nationalism, the Flag, and the Invasion of Iraq." *The Geographical Review* 101 (2011): 1–18.
- Welch, Brynn. "A Theory of Filial Obligations." Social Theory and Practice 38 (2012): 717–737.
- Wenell, Karen. "Contested Temple Space and Visionary Kingdom Space in Mark 11–12." *Biblical Interpretation* 15 (2007): 323–337.
- Wesley, Timothy. "The Politics of Faith: Religious Authority and Politics during the American Civil War." PhD diss., Pennsylvania State University, 2010.
- Whitehead, Andrew and Samuel Perry. "Is a 'Christian America' a More Patriarchal America? Religion, Politics, and Traditionalist Gender Ideology. *Canadian Review of Sociology* 56 (2019): 151–177.
- Whitehead, Andrew, Samuel Perry, and Joseph Baker. "Make America Christian Again: Christian Nationalism and Voting for Donald Trump in the 2016 Presidential Election." *Sociology of Religion: A Quarterly Review* 79 (2018): 147– 171.
- Williams, George. Wilderness and Paradise in Christian Thought: The Biblical Experience of the Desert in the History of Christianity and the Paradise Theme in the Theological Idea of the University. New York: Harper & Brothers, 1962.
- Wilsey, John. "America as the City upon a Hill: An Historical, Philosophical and Theological Critique of the Historiographical Construal of America as a Christian Nation." PhD diss., Southeastern Baptist Theological Seminary, 2009.

\_. *American Exceptionalism and Civil Religion: Reassessing the History of an Idea.* Downers Grove: InterVarsity, 2015.

\_. One Nation under God? An Evangelical Critique of Christian America. Eugene: Pickwick, 2011.

Wilson, Kevin. "From Memory to History: American Cultural Memory of the Vietnam War." Master's thesis, Miami University, 2006.

Winthrop, John. "A Modell of Christian Charity." In *Political Thought in America: An Anthology*, edited by Michael Levy. Prospect Heights: Waveland, 1992.

Witherington, Ben, III. *The Acts of the Apostles: A Socio-Rhetorical Commentary*. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 1998.

\_\_\_\_\_. Paul's Letter to the Philippians: A Socio-Rhetorical Commentary. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans Company, 2011.

\_\_\_. The Gospel of Mark: A Socio-Rhetorical Commentary. Grand Rapids: Eerdmans, 2001.

- Wolak, Jennifer and Ryan Dawkins. "The Roots of Patriotism across Political Contexts." *Political Psychology* 38 (2017): 391– 408.
- Wood, James. "Making a Nation's Flag a Sacred Symbol." *Journal* of Church and State 31 (1989): 375–380.
- Wright, Christopher. The Mission of God's People: A Biblical Theology of the Church's Mission. Grand Rapids: Zondervan, 2010.
- Wright, N. T. *The New Testament and the People of God. Christian Origins and the Question of God*, vol. 1. London: Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge, 1992.
- Yeboah, Kofie. "A Timeline of Events since Colin Kaepernick's National Anthem Protest." The Undefeated,
- https://theundefeated.com/features/a-timeline-of-events-sincecolin-kaepernicks-national-anthem-protest/.
- Yoon, Cheol-Won. "Paul's Citizenship and Its Function in the Narratives of Acts." PhD diss., University of Sheffield, 1996.
- Zelinsky, Wilbur. *From Nation into State*. Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 1988.
- Zerbe, Gordon. "Citizenship and Politics According to Philippians." Direction 38 (2009): 193–208.